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Introduction 

About this Annual Report 

Council is committed to transparent reporting and accountability to the community. 

The Surf Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2019-20 is the primary means of advising the Surf Coast Shire 
Council community about Council’s operations and performance during the financial year. 

The report seeks to describe the breadth of our services and operations, our governance and management 
processes, and the responsibilities fulfilled by our councillors, Executive Management Team and employees. 

Our aim is to provide our residents, ratepayers, state and federal governments, and other key stakeholders 
with an open, accurate account of our performance during 2019-20. 

An online version of this report is available at www.surfcoast.vic.gov.au. 
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Mayor’s message 

I am pleased to present Surf Coast Shire 

Council’s 2019-20 Annual Report on behalf of 

my fellow councillors. 

It reflects upon a year of extraordinary achievement 
– dominated in the last quarter by our response to 
the complex challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
but also featuring maintaining of Council services 
and facilities and advancing of significant works and 
projects. 

We saw progress on many important projects 
around our wards during the year. 

They included in Anglesea opening of a new 
Changing Places all access facility, and 
improvements at Ellimatta Reserve. In Lorne we saw 
the $6.5 million Stribling Reserve Pavilions 
Redevelopment Project progress and approval of 
the $10 million Point Grey redevelopment. 

In Winchelsea we saw the installation of Winchelsea 
township’s beautiful entrance sculptures and 
building of a Changing Places all-access facility. And 
in Torquay we have seen our Wurdi Baierr 
multipurpose stadium take shape, and important 
progress on establishment of a new cultural facility 
and library. 

Council also received a total of $30 million pledged 
by Australian and Victorian governments for a 
Torquay Aquatic and Health Centre. 

Council maintained its valued active role as member 
of the G21 Geelong Region Alliance during the year 
and appreciated opportunities to advocate on behalf 
of our beautiful region. 

We also maintained our commitment to environment 
with formal declaration of a Climate Emergency and 
endorsement of a three-part Climate Emergency 

Response Plan including strategic corporate and 
community-focused actions. 

Arrival of the pandemic during March significantly 
changed the way Council staff worked, with most 
transitioning to working from home, while others 
adjusted to using COVIDSafe practices in public-
facing and outdoor roles. 

Many Council services and facilities were affected 
by restrictions but the fact that services continued so 
seamlessly was great testimony to the skill and 
dedication of our staff. 

Councillors also successfully adjusted to historic 
firsts, conducting meetings initially outdoors and 
then via video. 

In June our Chief Executive Officer Keith Baillie 
announced he would be leaving us after 51/2 years 
in the role. I congratulate and thank Keith for having 
inspired and instigated many positive changes within 
our organisation and made such a significant 
contribution to community life. 

At the same time I congratulate General Manager 
Governance and Infrastructure Anne Howard for her 
appointment as Acting CEO. 

And finally with our four-year Council term drawing 
to a close I thank and congratulate my fellow 
councillors and wish them well for the future. 

Good luck to our new councillors and Council for the 
term ahead representing our truly wonderful region 
and community. 

 
 
 
 
Cr Rose Hodge 
Mayor 
Surf Coast Shire Council 
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CEO’s message 

I am pleased to introduce Council’s 2019-20 

Annual Report. 

Again we have strived to realise our purpose of 
helping of community and environment to thrive. 
Though the 2019-20 year ultimately presented 
extraordinary challenges due to the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, we can be proud of the way 
we have adapted to circumstances, maintained 
operations and continued to support our community. 

From March we had a majority of staff worked from 
home, while others continued in regular or modified 
roles observing workplace COVID-safe measures. 

Council meetings also shifted, from the chambers to 
outdoors, and then to online. 

Council’s community-focused response to the 
pandemic included establishing of Community 
Support and Economic Support teams and a 
Recovery Assistance Grants program. Our 
Economic Support Team responded to 419 
community requests for support at 100% completion 
rate. 

Our COVID-19 community support allocation for 
2019-20 was $400,000, and a further $1.7 million 
was allocated for 2020-21. 

We moved forward with major projects including 
Lorne’s Stribling Reserve lighting upgrade and 
pavilions redevelopment, building of Torquay’s 
Wurdi Baierr multi-purpose stadium and installation 
of Winchelsea’s entrance sculptures. 

Council also completed its feasibility study for 
completion of a Surf Coast Aquatic and Health 
Centre, and determined a preferred funding strategy. 

Council maintained a healthy financial position 
despite the impact of the pandemic, recording a 
surplus of $9.9 million, with cash and investments of 
$66.8 million up from $54.5 million the previous 
year. Much of the cash held by Council is allocated 
to specific purposes, such as rehabilitation of 
Council’s landfill or delivering projects under 
Developer Contribution Plans. 

The pandemic reduced Council’s financial position 
by $700,000, including the $400,000 community 
support allocation. 

Our projects spend of $24.5m in the year equated to 
110% of our target. 

We shared an outline of Our Financial Story with the 
community, illustrating challenges involved with 
maintaining our $800 million in community assets, 
and meeting community expectations in the face of 
increasing cost pressures. 

With a large portion of Council assets ageing, we will 
need to start allocating more funds to asset renewal, 
or service levels may reduce. 

To help create greater financial capacity Council will 
continue to use developer contributions and seek 
government grants to help fund new projects. These 
projects will still create long-term costs for Council 
for operating and renewal. 

We will also review what is delivered to the 
community and at what cost to ensure we can afford 
to deliver services and initiatives into the future. 

We have maintained strong focus on our customer 
experience program, and measured significant 
increase in customer requests while improving our 
response times. 

During 2019-20 we recorded 29,219 customer 
requests, an increase of 12,748 on last year, as well 
as 60,000 calls through our call centre. 

We responded to 96 per cent of customer requests 
within our target time frame, a 10 per cent 
improvement on last year. 

During pandemic working from home arrangements 
our Customer Service Team has responded to an 
average of almost 200 voicemails a day. 

The 2019-20 year was the last of the Council’s four-
year term. 

I congratulate councillors for their achievements and 
community service and particularly acknowledge 
retiring councillors Clive Goldsworthy, Margot Smith 
and Brian McKiterick. 

And finally, thanks to our dedicated staff for 
continued improvement and achievement during a 
year marked by significant organisational and 
personal challenges. 

Anne Howard 
Acting Chief Executive Officer 
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Surf Coast Shire Council

Snapshot of Council 

The Surf Coast Shire is located in south-

western Victoria, 1.5 hours from Melbourne, 

20 minutes south of Geelong and the official 

start of the iconic Great Ocean Road.  

The Surf Coast is blessed with unique 
environments – coast and hinterland: towns and 
villages with their own culture and lifestyles; world 
class surfing destinations; businesses servicing 
local, national and international markets; a history 
of innovation and entrepreneurship; and a strong 
visitor economy. It is, more than ever, a place 
where people want to live, work and visit. 

The charm and values of a coastal lifestyle make 
it, more than ever, a place where people want to 
live, work, visit and experience an exceptional 
quality of life.  

The shire is home to ten distinct townships; Aireys 
Inlet, Anglesea, Bellbrae, Deans Marsh, Fairhaven, 
Jan Juc, Lorne, Moriac, Torquay and Winchelsea. 
Each of these townships has a keen sense of 
community, a unique identity and a strong desire to 
protect and nurture the environment. There is also 
a significant rural population including farming and 
rural/residential communities.  

Torquay is at the start of the Great Ocean Road 
and is the fastest growing location within the 
municipality, with census data showing that 
Torquay and neighbouring Jan Juc’s population 
increased by 3,244 people (23.7%) from 2011 to 
2016 (Census of Population and Housing 2011 
and 2016). This represents an average annual 
population change of 4.35% per year over the 
period.  

Torquay and Jan Juc continue to attract a large 
number of young families to the shire given the 
coastal lifestyle and ease of commuting to Geelong 
and Melbourne. There is a growing number of 
small businesses & entrepreneurs attracted to 
enjoy a coastal lifestyle thanks to improved 
technology and internet capabilities.  

Winchelsea has been identified as a town that is 
also capable of supporting substantial residential 
growth and is the principal agricultural centre of the 
shire. Duplication of the Princes Highway together 
with access to good physical and community 

infrastructure support Winchelsea’s position as our 
secondary growth centre within the shire.  

Lorne, in the south-west of the shire, is another 
iconic destination. Bordered by Loutit Bay, the 
Great Ocean Road and the Great Otway National 
Park, this town is a scenic and recreational 
wonderland. Smaller coastal towns of Anglesea 
and Aireys Inlet offer magnificent seaside and 
bushland experiences, while the hinterland villages 
of Deans Marsh and Moriac maintain strong links 
to the land, which consists of productive 
agriculture, rural land and tourist businesses. Rural 
landscapes in the hinterland are highly valued by 
the community and are an important element in its 
economic future.   

The Surf Coast economy is unique and it’s 
growing. Powered by sectors including surfing, 
tourism, construction and small business, it 
supports over 3,500 businesses which drive an 
economy estimated to be worth over $1.3 billion 
annually.  A rise in home-based, innovative and 
creative businesses has led to the Surf Coast 
being recognised as the fifth largest lifestyle-lead 
innovation hotspot in Australia.  

Population  

Location and lifestyle continue to contribute to the 
Surf Coast Shire being one the fastest growing 
municipalities in Victoria.  

Between 2001 and 2019 the population of the Surf 
Coast Shire grew from 20,872 to 33,456 with a 
3.7% growth rate between 2018 and 2019. The 
latest Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 
Regional Population Growth figures released 25 
March 2020 list Surf Coast Shire as the eighth 
fastest growing Council in Victoria behind five city 
Councils and two shire Councils (Cardinia 4.7% 
and Mitchell 4.0%) 

Between 2016 and 2036, the population for Surf 
Coast Shire is forecast to increase by 15,272 
persons to 45,717 (50.16% growth), at an average 
annual change of 2.5% 

By the end of 2021 the shire’s population is 
forecast to grow to 34,230, with a further 11,487 
people forecast to live in Surf Coast Shire by 2036. 
(Forecast.id.com.au). 
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Census and forecasts population data is available 
on the Surf Coast Shire Council website and 
includes community profile data for all Surf Coast 
Shire townships (go to About us/About the shire). 

Economy 

Prior to COVID-19 the Surf Coast was growing at a 
rate above the State average. Primary sectors that 
contribute to the economy include surfing, tourism, 
construction, retail and health.  In the Hinterland, the 
agriculture sector plays an increasingly important 
role, Over 3,500 businesses support the Surf Coast 
economy that was estimated to be worth over $1.3 
billion annually before the COVID-19 down turn.   

A rise in home-based, innovative and creative 
businesses has led to the Surf Coast being 
recognised as the fifth largest lifestyle-lead 
innovation hotspot in Australia. There are now over 
2,000 business operating from or at home on the 
Surf Coast (a rise of 53% over 53% over the past 5 
years). Traditional and emerging sectors of 
agriculture and health complement to create a 
distinctly different economy to that of Geelong and 
surrounding regions. 

Over a five year period, the Gross Regional Product 
of the Surf Coast Shire grew by an average of 
4.77%. This is higher than the average growth for 
the G21 region (3.43%), Victoria (3.07%) and 
Australia (2.9%). 

The total employment estimate for the Surf Coast in 
early 2020 was 9,293 jobs. The sectors with the 
largest impact in terms of jobs and output were: 

Accommodation and food services – 16.0% of all 
jobs, 9.5% output 

Construction – 14.5% of jobs, 23% of total output 

Rental, hiring and real estate services is one of our 
highest performing sectors, but accounts for very 
few jobs – 1.9% jobs, 13.5% output 

Retail is one of the largest employers but ranked 
seventh in output – 12.2% jobs, 5.1% output 

Agriculture represents the fifth largest sector in 
terms of output, and the seventh largest employer – 
5.9% jobs, 6.5% output. 

Since the advent of COVID-19 it is estimated the 
economy has contracted by 6.3%, with the loss over 
1,000 jobs.  

As a tourism destination and with many businesses 
in accommodation, hospitality and creative industry, 
the Surf Coast was identified as being in the top 13 
of 535 LGA’s in terms of percentage of businesses 
applying for JobKeeper.  

The close proximity to Geelong and Melbourne 
results in many residents travelling to these centres 
for work. Approximately 37% of all employment 
people in Surf Coast work in Geelong, with another 
12% working in Melbourne. Jobs held by these 
people tend to be in areas of finance, health, 
education and professional services. 
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In contrast, employees imported into the Surf Coast 
tends to be more part time and hospitality focused.    

Employment structures between males and females 
also differs. Approximately 64% of males work in full 
time roles. These roles tend to be in areas such as 
Engineering, Architecture, Building, Management & 
Commerce. In contrast approximately 34 percent of 
females are in full time employment with roles 
tending to be in Health, Education, Social work, 
Cultural management & Commerce. 

Within the Surf Coast there are three distinct sub 
economies – Torquay, Coast (Anglesea to Lorne 
area) and Hinterland. In the Torquay economy 
Construction (14%), Tourism (13%) and retail (13%) 
comprise the major sectors. In the Coast economy 
Tourism is far more dominant (22%) followed by 
Construction (15%) and Retail (11%). Employment 
in the Hinterland is dominated by Agriculture (39%), 
Construction (19%) and Education (8%). 

The significant construction sector is supported by 
the growth of several Geelong suburbs and Torquay. 

Visitation and part time populations 

The Surf Coast’s beaches, natural attractions, major 
events and outdoor activities make it a renowned 
tourism region in Victoria.  

During 2019, the Surf Coast Shire attracted just over 
3 million visitors, generating over $543 million in 
tourism expenditure. It is estimated that over $67.2 
million in wages and salaries is attributed to tourism 
in the shire each year. While domestic day trippers 
are the most common type of visitor (58%), domestic 
overnight visitors contribute the highest spend 
(71%). International overnight visitor numbers are 
small (51,506) but growing. In 2019, China became 
our largest source of international visitors. Even so, 
their contribution to overall visitor expenditure was 
very small. Since the advent of COVID-19 it is 
estimated there has been a loss of over 1.1 million 
visitors (estimated to expend approximately $180 
million) to the Surf Coast. This figure will 
dramatically increase as the summer months 
approach. 

The Surf Coast Shire was home to over 200 events, 
festivals and markets in 2019, attracting over 
240,000 attendees, and seen by a global audience 
of over 40 million. Headline events such as the Rip 
Curl Pro, Cadel Evans Road Race and Race 
Torquay, Pier to Pub, Surf Coast Century and Amy’s 
Gran Fondo help inject an estimated $100 million 
into the economy each year. 

In addition to the growing permanent population, 
part time and visitor populations are significant in the 
Surf Coast. Typically 47% of properties in the Surf 
Coast Shire are owned by people residing outside 
the shire, with 26% of holiday home owners 
intending to move permanently to the shire in the 
future. During peak visitation periods, the population 
of the Surf Coast Shire is estimated to nearly triple, 
from its usual population of 29,402 to over 86,000. 
COVID-19 is expected to create a shift in the 
structure of permanent versus part time houses with 
many families seeking to make the Surf Coast their 
primary place of residence 

Age structure 

The Surf Coast Shire has a younger age profile in 
2016 compared to the Geelong G21 Region.  

In 2016, 24.3% of our population was in the younger 
age groups (0 to 17) and 24.3% was aged 60 years 
or older, compared with 22.2% and 24.8% 
respectively for the Geelong G21 Region (Australian 
Bureau of Statistics, Census of Population and 
Housing 2011 and 2016).  

Between 2016 and 2036, the age structure forecasts 
for the Surf Coast Shire indicate a 21.3% increase in 
population under working age (0 to 17) and a 47.5% 
increase in population of retirement age (over 60 
years). This change in age demographic is likely to 
result in a number of service related challenges. 

Births 

New births are also contributing to Council’s 
increasing population. In 2017 there were around 
330 births in the Surf Coast Shire (Australian Bureau 
of Statistics, Registered Births). Between 2017 and 
2026 it is projected that there will be a further 4,091 
births (forecast .id). 

Dwellings and households 

The total number of dwellings in the Surf Coast 
Shire increased by 1,594 between 2011 and 2016 
(Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of 
Population and Housing). It is anticipated that 
residential development will grow by an additional 
379 dwellings each year until 2036 (forecast .id). 

In 2016, 33.7% of all households in the Surf Coast 
Shire were couples with children, 28.8%, were 
couples without children, 7.6% were one parent 
families, 0.7% were other families, 2.7% were group 
households, 19.8% were lone persons, 4% were 
other not classified households and 2.6% were 
visitor-only households. (Australian Bureau of 
Statistics, Census of Population). 
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Over $2.25 billion of building and construction 
activity has taken place in the Surf Coast Shire in 
the past 10 years. Of this, approximately $1.5 billion 
has occurred in Torquay/Jan Juc. Since 2004 only 
the regional cities of Geelong, Bendigo and Ballarat 
have had greater construction activity than the Surf 
Coast Shire. Construction activity in Torquay/Jan 
Juc alone is greater than 50% of Victoria’s regional 
cities. 

Education  

In the Surf Coast Shire, 50% of people aged over 15 
years had completed Year 12 schooling (or 
equivalent) as of 2011 (compared to 38% in the G21 
Region), increasing from 45% in 2006. The 
proportion of residents who have post-school 
qualifications has also increased from 47% in 2006 
to 54% in 2011 (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 
Census of Population and Housing).  

Employment  

The Surf Coast Shire is strongly influenced by the 
impact of tourism and surfing. Total employment in 
the municipality was estimated at just over 9,200 
jobs in early 2020 with major employers including 
Rip Curl, Barwon Health and the Surf Coast Shire. 
Other major employers include the major resorts of 
Mantra, RACV, Cumberland and Peppers. There is 
also a range of mid-level employers such as the 
Great Ocean Road Chocolaterie, pubs, 
supermarkets and schools. The status of 
employment on the Surf Coast will be monitored 
closely over the next 12 – 18 months as part of 
recovery from COVID-19. As mentioned above, by 
June 2020 it was estimated that over 1,000 jobs had 
already been lost due to the pandemic.    
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Councillors 

The Council was elected to provide leadership for the good governance of the municipal 

district and the local community. On 22 October 2016 the Surf Coast Shire Council community 

elected this Council for a four year term.  

The municipality is divided into four wards and ensures that communities have local representation in 
Council. 

The nine councillors are the elected representatives of all residents and ratepayers across the shire. They 
have a responsibility for setting the strategic direction for the municipality, developing policy, identifying 
service standards and monitoring performance across the organisation. The councillors are listed below. 

 

Anglesea Ward 

 

Cr Margot Smith 

Elected: 2012, 2016 
Mayor: 2014-15 
P. 5261 0852 M. 0400 271 574 
msmith@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Tony Revell 

Elected: 2019 
M. 0427 337 558 
trevell@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

Torquay Ward 

 

Cr David Bell 

Elected: 2012, 2016 
Mayor: 2017-18 
P. 5261 0859 M. 0409 626 614 
dbell@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Martin Duke 

Elected: 2016 
P. 5261 0856 M. 0409 806 073 
mduke@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

 

Cr Rose Hodge - Mayor 

Elected: 2004, 2008, 2012, 2016 
Mayor: 2006-07, 2013-14, 2015-16, 
2018-19, 2019-20 
P. 5261 0857 M. 0407 552 025 
rhodge@surfcoast.vic.gov.au  

Cr Brian McKiterick  

Elected: 2008, 2012, 2016 
Mayor: 2011-12, 2016-17 
P. 5261 0851 M. 0428 570 094 
bmckiterick@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

Lorne Ward 

 

Cr Clive Goldsworthy 

Elected: 2012, 2016 
P. 5261 0854 M. 0400 756 854  
cgoldsworthy@surfcoast.vic.gov.au  

Winchelsea Ward 

Cr James McIntyre 
Elected: 2019 
M. 0400 169 741 
jmcintryre@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 
 

Cr Heather Wellington 
Elected: 2012, 2016 
P. 5261 0853 M. 0417 542 967 
hwellington@surfcoast.vic.gov.au 
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The year in review 

Highlights, challenges and the year ahead 
See the Our Performance section for more performance related information. 
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Theme: Community wellbeing 

Create an inclusive community where everyone can participate and contribute. 

 

Highlights: 

 Providing assistance to the community-led 
Deans Marsh community action planning 
process 

 Progressing the design and commencement 
of work to redevelop Stribling Reserve 
netball and main pavilions  

 Worked with community groups to develop 
eight community initiatives as part of the 
Community Projects Development Program  

 Rapid establishment of three place based 
community support teams to help the 
community during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 Established a COVID-19 Recovery 
Assistance Grant program. 

 Delivered successful community events, 
supported by technology to mark NAIDOC 
Week, International Women's Day, 
IDAHOBIT Day, Volunteers Week, 
Children’s Week, Seniors Week and 
International Day of People with a Disability 

 Celebrated the achievements of our 
community volunteers at the 2020 Australia 
Day Awards 

 Delivered the 2019 Surf Coast Arts Trail 
supported with a new digital trail map.  

 Installed large scale sculptures by artists 
Matthew Harding and Benjamin Storch at 
the eastern and western approaches to 
Winchelsea  

 Adopted Creative Places 2019-2021 Surf 
Coast Shire Council’s new Arts Strategy 

 Established PORTAL a new multi discipline 
arts website designed to support local 
creative practitioners and to showcase work 
during the COVID 19 shutdown 

 Free programmed skills development for 
artists through the Elevate Series of 
workshop video resources 

 Opened new Changing Places facilities in 
Winchelsea and Anglesea to support people 
with high support needs. 

 Enhancing childhood immunisation services 
to provide free childhood flu vaccinations. 

 Conducted a feasibility study to determine 
the location and scope of a Cultural Facility 
and Library in Torquay.  Updated the Surf 

Coast Shire Municipal Emergency 
Management Plan. 

 Township strategic fuel break (APZ) 
expansion investigation project completed. 
Partnered with DELWP, CFA and Parks Vic. 

 ‘Landscaping for Bushfire’ workshop for 
landscapers and TAFE students, included 
teachers and staff from schools and 
representatives from fire agencies. 

 31 bushfire education engagement 
opportunities reaching over 750 individuals. 

 A large printed engagement and education 
program for bushfire safety, using mail outs 
and printed and digital media. 

 Clearer signage for bushfire Neighbourhood 
Safer Places. Included a link on the signage 
to a Simple Chinese version. 

 Surf Coast Shire Council leading a State 
grant funding to update and develop multi-
agency township operational response 
bushfire plans.  

 We undertook an extensive bushfire fuel 
reduction programs including 7 joint bushfire 
fuel reduction programs with community an 
issued 194 Fire Prevention Notices for the 
2019 – 2020 season. 

 Planned and delivered a joint Shire and 
agency Emergency Relief Exercise. 

Challenges: 

 Adjustment of services in light of COVID-19 
pandemic and gaining early insights into the 
challenges for the community. 

 Planning for the implementation of the 
Victorian Government’s commitment to 
increase the provision of three year old 
kindergarten programs 

 Transitioning aged care services to new 
providers. 

 COVID considerations - face to face 
engagement need to be modified. 

 Message fatigue – enormous amount of 
bushfire messaging around last year’s Black 
Summer. Followed by ‘Be COVID safe’, 
community safety messaging is at an all 
time high. Cut through messaging will be 
crucial while also recognising communities’ 
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potential for weariness and saturation of 
safety messages.  

The year ahead: 

 Completion of an audit of Council facilities to 
determine priority order of works required to 
support all abilities access 

 Adoption of the Community Development 
Policy and Action Plan  

 Adoption of a new Community Engagement 
Policy in keeping with requirements of the 
Local Government Act 2020. 

 Concept design the Cultural Facility and 
Library Project 

 Adoption of the Age Friendly Communities 
Strategy and Action Plan  

 Development of a revised Early Years 
Strategy and Action Plan  

 Complete the transition of Commonwealth 
Home Support Program services to new 
providers 

 Transition Section 86 Committees of 
Management to Community Asset 
Committees. 

 COVID considerations - face to face 
engagement need to be modified. 

 Message fatigue – enormous amount of 
bushfire messaging around last year’s Black 
Summer. Followed by ‘Be COVID safe’, 
community safety messaging is at an all 
time high. Cut through messaging will be 
crucial while also recognising communities’ 
potential for weariness and saturation of 
safety messages.  
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Theme: Environmental leadership  

Preserve and enhance the natural environment  

Highlights: 

 130kW of additional solar capacity was 
installed on Council facilities including 
Torquay and Winchelsea depots, Anglesea 
Landfill and Torquay Civic Office. 

 Declaration of climate emergency was made 
at Council’s August 2019 meeting, with a 
commitment to take action locally. 

 Corporate environmental sustainability 
targets were developed, including 100% 
renewable energy, net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions, zero waste, sustainable water 
use and responsible land management. 

 An emissions inventory was developed for 
council’s operations. 

 Climate Emergency Short Term Corporate 
Action Plan was developed and many 
actions have been completed. 

 Climate Emergency Long Term Corporate 
Action Plan is in progress, with inputs from 
across all of Council’s operations and 
services. 

 Council’s role and approach to a Climate 
Emergency Community Response was 
endorsed and is underway. 

 The Towards Environmental Leadership 
website was relaunched with a suite of local 
stories and resources to celebrate and 
encourage local environmental action.  

 Community groups including Surf Coast 
Youth 4 Climate, ANGAIR, Repair Café Surf 
Coast, community gardens, Plastic Wise 
groups and others have continued to be 
supported. 

 The Local Food Program delivered new live 
and virtual workshops sharing skills for 
growing, making and preserving food. 

 A commitment was made to change to a 
four bin kerbside waste collection service, 
including Food Organics and Garden 
Organics (FOGO) and a separate bin for 
glass. 

 30 households were involved in the trial of a 
purple-lid bin for separating glass. 

 Worked with volunteer groups to support 
revegetation projects along the Barwon 
River, Jan Juc Creek, Painkalac Creek, 
Deep Creek and Spring Creek, aimed at 

improving the resilience and quality of these 
remnants over the longer term 

 Created opportunities for local schools, 
kindergartens and businesses to become 
involved in environmental activities on 
Council land such as weeding and rubbish 
removal. 

 Protected remnant vegetation communities 
and native fauna on Council reserves 
through extensive weed and rabbit control 
programs. 

 Anglesea streetscape beautification project 
delivered in partnership with the local 
community with new plantings in high profile 
locations including the riverbank and 
shopping precincts 

Challenges: 
  COVID-19 delayed work and engagement 

on the Climate Emergency Response.  
 COVID-19 has caused the cancellation of all 

face-to-face consultation and engagement 
for the foreseeable future. 

 The state’s recycling industry experienced 
major disruption and challenges. 

 COVID-19 caused delay in rolling out the 
shire-wide FOGO service and additional bin 
for collecting glass. 

The year ahead: 
 Installing additional solar at Council facilities 

and an upgrade to solar monitoring systems.  
 Developing strategies to achieve 100% 

renewable energy and net zero emissions 
targets. 

 Increasing knowledge about climate change 
threats and solutions across council’s 
workforce. 

 Implementing the Climate Emergency Long 
Term Corporate Plan. 

 Supporting a Climate Emergency 
Community Response and actions. 

 Continuing to deliver the Local Food 
Program. 

 Continuing to support environmental groups 
to connect, share knowledge and hold 
events/activities.  

 Changing the kerbside waste service to a 
four bin system including FOGO and a 
separate bin for glass. 
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Theme: Balancing growth  

Provide for growth whilst ensuring the intrinsic values and character of the shire are retained  

Highlights: 

 Statutory Planning was the best 
performing service in the Peri-urban group 
of Councils for the second year in row 

 Completion of the Surf Coast Aquatic and 
Health Centre Feasibility Study and 
determination of a preferred model and 
funding strategy 

 Progression of the construction of the Surf 
Coast Multi-Purpose Indoor Stadium and 
named Wurdi Baierr Stadium (big 
gathering space). 

 Completion of key recreation projects 
including Yuurrok Soccer Pitch (Banyul 
Warri Fields), Winchelsea Netball Pavilion 
Upgrade and Stribling Reserve Sports 
Lighting and Electronic Scoreboard 

 Completing review of Torquay Jan Juc 
Developer Contribution Plan 

 Council officers participated in the working 
group and steering committee for the State 
Government Distinctive Areas and 
Landscapes Project; providing information 
and local knowledge input.  The project will 
determine permanent settlement 
boundaries for Torquay/Jan Juc and 
height, density and location of urban 
growth. 

 Council officers participated in the working 
groups for the Armstrong Creek to Torquay 
transit corridor project being progressed by 
the Department of Transport. 

 The Torquay Jan Juc Retail and 
Employment Land Strategy was 
commenced with a draft background report 
prepared.  The strategy will consider land 
supply and demand and give direction on 
the role of Torquay’s industrial and 
commercial areas in the future. 

 Two rezoning and subdivision plans were 
prepared for Moriac and Winchelsea for 
low density residential subdivisions in 
accordance with the adopted structure 
plans for those towns; creating a total of 
115 new lots. 

 Two background reports on bushfire and 
economics were prepared for the Lorne 
Structure Plan, which is on hold pending 

the community’s work on accommodation 
and increasing the permanent population 
of Lorne. 

Challenges: 

 Need for certainty regarding long 
anticipated Distinctive Areas and 
Landscapes 

 Reactivating projects postponed by the 
Covid-19 pandemic such as planning 
scheme amendment to implement the 
Winchelsea town centre urban design 
guidelines  

 Considering coastal towns in the context of 
the DELWP Strategic Framework Plan for 
the Great Ocean Road and new Great 
Ocean Road Authority. 

The year ahead: 

 Continue to advocate for funding to deliver 
the Surf Coast Aquatic & Health Centre. 

 Commence a $2.1m redevelopment of the 
Grant Pavilion to increase the number of 
change rooms and umpires rooms and 
provide the Surf Coast Football Club with a 
club room. 

 Completion of key projects at Mt Moriac 
Reserve – new Equestrian pavilion, new 
AFL lighting, new netball lighting and 
second oval drainage – and 
commencement of the new netball and 
tennis pavilion redevelopment. 

 Completion and opening of Wurdi Baierr 
Stadium. 

 Developing a revised Torquay Jan Juc 
Developer Contribution Plan and 
proceeding this through a Planning 
Scheme Amendment 

 Continue structure planning for Lorne and 
Moriac 

 Complete the Retail and Employment land 
strategy for Torquay 

 Implementation of the Distinctive Areas 
and Landscapes directions for 
Torquay/Jan Juc 

 Complete a planning scheme amendment 
to implement the Rural Hinterland Futures 
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Strategy to give direction on tourism uses 
in rural areas 

 Commence a planning scheme 
amendment to implement the Heritage 

Study Stage 2C to protect our important 
historical properties 
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Theme: Vibrant economy  

Support innovative, sustainable businesses and activities that create jobs and are valued by 

the community and visitors  

Highlights: 

 Secured $500,000 towards the Connecting 
Torquay Town Centre project under the 
Victorian Government’s Regional Infrastructure 
Fund. 

 Completion of the annual business barometer 
survey with one hundred and thirty five Surf 
Coast businesses responding.  

 Worked with Building, Planning, Customer 
Service, Local Laws, Health to develop a 
Business Concierge service for businesses 
requiring cross departmental assistance. The 
service is designed to provide a quality 
customer experience and a first point of 
contact for the whole of business permit 
approvals process with Council. 

 Council collaborated with Small Business 
Victoria to bring their Small Business bus to 
the Surf Coast to assist small business 
operators with confidential one-to-one 
mentoring service in Torquay, Anglesea and 
Winchelsea  

 The Surf Coast Shire Agribusiness Network 
hosted a number of workshops including 
‘Poultry, Pests, Plants and Industrial Hemp – 
Biosecurity Basics’ to support and improve the 
skills of lifestyle farmers in sustainable land 
management, biosecurity and animal welfare.  

 Council assisted the futureAUS conference in 
September 2019. Over the week, there were 6 
events and 160+ innovators in Torquay to 
discuss innovation.  

 Council partnered with Business in Heels to 
bring Mentor Mornings to the Surf Coast. 
Business in Heels is a networking forum 
designed to empower women in business to 
help them reach their true potential as fast as 
possible. 
 

Covid-19 Related Business 
Support  

 Surf Coast businesses were surveyed to help 
understand their needs and provide the right 
type of support at the advent of COVID-19. 
Almost 400 businesses were contacted with 
feedback playing a key role in the provision of 
support. 

 Responded to 419 requests for support with a 
100% completion rate. 

 An expanded Business Concierge process has 
run successfully during Covid-19 in 
collaboration with Health, Planning, Building & 
Local Laws to help provide assistance to 
businesses. The new service has assisted 
over 50 new businesses understand the 
permits they might need and the process to 
obtain them.  

 A new website, BuySurfCoast.com.au, 
promoted local businesses operating during 
COVID-19 restrictions to over 5,100 visitors 
and connected with over 650 local businesses 
since it went live on 27 March 2020. A new 
Inspired By Surf Coast Buy Local campaign 
has now been launched. 

 A 1:1 Specialist Advice Program assisted 26 
businesses by connecting them with local 
business experts for advice on marketing, 
accounting, legal and business planning. The 
program provided a $200 subsidy to support 
COVID-19 affected businesses and achieved a 
customer Satisfaction rating of 9/10. 

 110 CovidSafe Sticker Packs provided to 
businesses across the Surf Coast to support 
social distancing and capacity requirements. 
The sticker packs were designed for retail and 
hospitality businesses. 

Introduction of Covid-19 support package, 
including $0.4 million of support in 2019-20 and 
$1.768 million of budgeted support in 2020-21. 
Included in 2019-20 was $0.3 million of business 
fees and charges refunded to support our local 
economy. 
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Events 

 The 2020/21 Event Grants Program was 
released in September 2020, with 28 
proposals received and assessed for 
consideration by Council in January 2020. 
Council approved funding of 13 Major and 9 
Community Events, to a total value of $78,000. 

 From July 2019 to March 2020, Council’s 
Events team supported the delivery of some 
50 events throughout the region, including 
Amy’s Gran Fondo, the Surf Coast Century, 
Wonderfalls Trail Run, Sprint Series Adventure 
Race, Great Victorian Bike Ride, Afterglow 
Night Trail Run, Roo Run, Rock to Ramp, 
Mountain to Surf, Pier to Pub, Nightjar, Kite 
Wave Nationals and Aireys Open Mic Music 
Festival.   

 Council played a significant role in hosting the 
inaugural Towards Zero Race Torquay, as part 
of the four-day Cadel Evans Great Ocean 
Road Race cycling festival which ran from 30 
January to 2 February 2020. 

 Following the Victorian Premier’s declaration of 
a State of Emergency on 16 March 2020, all 
events scheduled to the end of June 2020 
were either postponed or cancelled. This 
included major events such as the Rip Curl 
Pro, Great Ocean Road Running Festival and 
Surf Coast Trail Marathon, as well as 
numerous community events including the 
Deans Marsh Festival and Love Winter in 
Aireys program. 

VICs & Australian National Surfing 
Museum 

 The Australian National Surfing Museum 
(ANSM) featured in a new online exhibition 
launched by Google called Australia: Great 
Sporting Land. The launch saw the ANSM 
featured alongside other significant sports 
such as the AFL, NRL and Bradman Museum. 
The launch was the culmination of 2 years with 
Google. 

 Secured the donation of a large part of 
Quiksilver’s historic collection- a collection of 
45 historic surfboards and extensive 
photographic archive. The donation shows the 
recognition within the industry that the ANSM 
is the home for Australia’s most significant 
surfing collections.  

 2019 marked the Centenary of the 
commencement of construction for the Great 
Ocean Road. To mark this anniversary, the 
Lorne Visitor Information team worked with the 

Lorne Historical Society to develop and install 
a temporary exhibition on the building of the 
road in the Great Ocean Road Story space. 
The exhibition opened on 18 September and 
coincided with the 100 Year Celebration 
project led by Great Ocean Road Regional 
Tourism. 

 The Waves and Wheels Exhibition opened on 
20 December at the Australian National 
Surfing Museum. ‘Waves and Wheels – A 
Celebration of Surfaris’ celebrates the wave-
chasing adventures of surfers around our 
coastline through a colourful presentation of 
stories, images, artefacts, objects, music and 
surf film footage dating back more than 60 
years. 

 Developed a virtual tour and commentary for 
the ANSM to suit curriculum requirements for 
schools and offer a service while they cannot 
travel. Students also have the opportunity to 
ask questions from ANSM staff. This program 
is now being offered directly to schools for 
Terms 3 and 4. 

Challenges: 

 Recovery phase of COVID-19 and 
continued support of heavily impacted 
businesses. 

 Ensuring visitation returns at the right time 
with expenditure maximised  

 Business stability as key Federal and State 
assistance programs end. 

 Supporting mass participation events with 
COVID-19 requirements Balancing host 
community sentiment with the need to 
encourage visitation 

The year ahead: 

 Continued support for business community 
associated with COVID-19 

 Continued delivery of the COVID-19 
Recovery Support Grants 

 Completion of the 10 year Economic 
Development Strategy 

 Launch of the new Surf Coast Events 
brand and website 

 Reopening of our Visitor Information 
Centres and ANSM 

 Re-establishment of our significant events 
calendar  

 Inspired By Surf Coast Campaign to 
support local businesses 

 Collaborative marketing campaigns with 
Great Ocean Road Regional Tourism 
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Theme: High performing Council  

Deliver valued services to the community 

Highlights: 

 Registered and completed 29,211 
customer requests in Council’s primary 
customer request management system. 
96% of requests were completed within the 
allocated timeframe. 

 Introduction of real time customer 
feedback to improve understanding of 
service performance through the eyes of 
the customer 

 Complaint Handling Policy and Procedure 
updated to aligned with Victorian 
Ombudsman’s recommendations 

 Virtual Council and Hearing of 
Submissions meetings, including 
livestreaming  

 Submission to the Victorian Government’s 
Rating System review 

 Agile workforce and workplace response to 
COVID restrictions including shift to 
working from home model with high 
reliance on technology.  

 Converted all customer facing forms to 
digital format and added electronic 
payment facilities 

 Rolled out new functionality to enable 
Council to work remotely enabling Council 
business to continue during Covid-19 
pandemic 

 Launched a portal to enable Councillors to 
access information centrally. 

 Achieving annual target over savings 
through the combined efforts of the 
Business Improvement Program, Digital 
Transformation Program and Business 
Case initiatives 

 Substantial reforms associated with 
Positive Ageing services 

 Delivered a strong result of for capital and 
operational projects despite the challenges 
of Covid-19 – record spend of $24.5m and 
110% of Spend Target following 
adjustments for savings, cancelled and 
deferred projects.  

Challenges: 

 Some service changes to meet long-term 
financial plan savings targets not readily 
accepted by service users. 

 Continuing equipment renewals during 
restrictions 

 Cost pressures on resources to support 
remote working 

 Supporting the organization in a modified 
working arrangement 

 Realisation of savings in corporate 
overheads associated with reforms 

The year ahead: 

 Council elections and induction of new 
Councillors 

 Implementation of Local Government Act 
2020 

 Deliver a number of new initiatives from 
the Digital Transformation Program 
including Live Customer Chat, Electronic 
signatures and mobile applications for field 
staff 

 Continued improvement of the customer 
experience through process 
improvements, improved technology and 
staff development  

 Adapting workplaces and practices to cope 
with easing COVID-19 restrictions and the 
‘new normal’  
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Financial overview 

Summary  

Surf Coast Shire Council’s financial position continued to be healthy 2019-20, despite impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. This is evidenced by: 

 Cash and investments of $66.8m (up from $54.5m last year) 
 $97.3m in revenue ($101.0m last year) 
 $21.2m in borrowings ($16.3m last year) 
 Income Statement surplus of $9.9m ($20.9m in 2018-19) 
 Accumulated Unallocated Cash Reserve balance of $2.4m. 

The Coronavirus Pandemic had an impact of reducing Council’s financial position by $0.7 million. This 
included $0.4 million that Council allocated in its financial assistance package, and $0.3 million of other 
variances. 

Detailed information relating to Council’s financial performance is included in the Annual Financial and 
Performance Statements, which are included in this report.  

How Council’s Financial Framework works 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 outlines Council’s strategy and commitment to achieve its vision of “an 
engaged, innovative, and sustainable community”. Whilst our strategies and plans are aimed at achieving 
this vision, Council must also meet the principles of sound financial management, as outlined in section 136 
of the Local Government Act 1989. 

To ensure we can deliver on our vision, Council uses revenue raised via rates and other means for the 
provision of community services, supplying the community with new assets and maintaining existing assets 
to an acceptable standard.  

Council delivers a number of services to the community every year, including: 

 kindergartens and early year education programs 
 libraries and school crossings 
 community health programs and initiatives 
 community education and social planning 
 community emergency management 
 maintenance of public open space and community assets 
 waste management and recycling 
 road maintenance 
 environmental projects, including Council’s Environmental Leadership program 
 economic development 
 planning and development 
 local law enforcement  

Council also delivers a significant number of projects every year, including the delivery of new community 
assets, the renewal of existing assets, the coordination of environmental and community initiatives, and 
various community events. 
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Financial sustainability and challenges 

This year the Council declared a rate increase of 2.5% to comply with the state government’s Fair Go Rates 
legislation. A cap on rates represents a significant financial constraint to local government. Council prepares 
a 10 year financial plan to ensure financial challenges and responsibilities are recognised. Our current 
challenges include: 

 Responding to the Coronavirus pandemic and its economic and wellbeing impacts to businesses 
and residents of the shire 

 Heavy reliance on rate revenue in a rate-capped environment, and government grants as our main 
sources of income, and limited access to other revenue sources 

 Significant upheaval in the waste industry 
 Increasing costs related to maintaining assets 
 The costs of providing new assets in growth areas 
 Increased costs in delivering services for a population that is growing 
 Competing community priorities 
 The implementation of a new Local Government Act 

Council continues to invest in initiatives to mitigate these challenges, including our Business Improvement 
Program, Program Management Office, and Digital Transformation Program. 

Operating performance 

Council’s operations delivered a net surplus of $9.9m, $8.2m lower than budget. This was mainly due to: 

 Amortisation of Council’s Landfill Airspace ($4.2m) and leased assets ($0.5m), under newly-
introduced accounting treatments for these items 

 Costs of refinancing Council’s borrowings portfolio ($2.5m) 
 Higher asset write-off costs ($2.1m) 

Although Council incurred costs in refinancing its portfolio of borrowings, the net income was a significant 
reduction in interest costs which will lead to a net positive outcome for Council over the life of the portfolio. 

The net surplus is generated to fund non-operating activities, including the provision of new infrastructure 
and the renewal of existing community assets. The net surplus also includes funds tied to specific purposes, 
such as our waste and recycling programs, and non-cash items such as depreciation. 

Table 1: Key Results for 2019-20  

($’000) Budget Actual $ Variance % Variance 

Revenue 93,341 97,312 3,971 4% 

Expenditure 75,175 87,363 (12,188) (16%) 

Net Surplus 18,166 9,949 (8,217) (45%) 

     

Recurrent EBITDA Result 15,956 19,508 3,552 22% 

     

Cash and Investments 54,662 66,766 12,104 22% 

Borrowings 18,527 21,170 2,643 14% 

Net Assets 855,793 842,986 (12,807) (1%) 

     

Rates and Charges revenue 54,335 54,922 587 1% 

Capital Expenditure 25,354 21,219 (4,135) (16%) 

Accumulated unallocated Cash 2,503 2,435 (68) (3%) 
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Council remains heavily dependent on rates as its major revenue source, with ratepayers contributing more 
that 56% of Council’s total income in 2019-20. If non-cash items and capital grants are removed from the 
equation, rates and charges account for 69% of adjusted revenue.  

Figure 1: How we spent $100 of Rates Revenue in 2019-20 

 

 
 
Figure 1 above shows the split of Council expenditure on Council Plan themes.  
 
Community wellbeing had a higher actual spend to budget due to good progress on: 

 Surf Coast Multi-Purpose Stadium project, recently named Wurdi Baierr stadium 

 Mt Moriac Reserve Equestrian Pavilion Redevelopment and Mt Moriac Reserve Netball Lighting 
Upgrade 

Balancing growth spend was lower than budget mainly due to: 

 Incomplete Pathway projects being carried forward to the 2020-21 financial year, including Camp 
Road Pathway Anglesea, Cape Otway Road Pathway Moriac,  and Deans Marsh Pathways 

 A number of projects that were delivered with savings, including:  

o South Beach Road renewal and upgrade 

o The Esplanade renewal - Bell Street to Gilbert Street 

o Regional Bike Route Horseshoe Bend Rd (PC03) widening 

o Fischer Street renewal - Beach Road to Darian Road 

o Winchelsea Town Centre traffic management. 

Vibrant economy was generally on plan, but was impacted by: 

 Torquay Town Centre Project Stage 1 – Gilbert Street Beautification carried forward to 2020-21.  
 Production of Janjucetus Skeleton was cancelled.  

 
 
 
Capital Expenditure Summary 
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Expenditure on significant projects in 2019-20 included: 

 Surf Coast Multi-Purpose Stadium ($6.0 million) 
 South Beach Road upgrade ($1.4 million) 
 Coombes Road Widening ($0.8 million) 
 Fisher Street upgrade ($0.7 million) 
 Messmate Road upgrade ($0.6 million) 
 Mt Moriac Reserve Equestrian Pavilion ($0.6 million) 
 Gnarwarre Road Culvert upgrade ($0.4 million) 
 Mt Moriac Reserve Lighting and Drainage ($0.4 million) 
 Digital Transformation Program ($0.4 million) 
 Mt Moriac Reserve Netball Courts ($0.2 million) 
 

Table 2: Capital Spend by Expenditure Type 2019-20 

 

Capital Spend Type Budget ($’000) Actual ($’000) 

New assets 9,694 9,906 

Renewal of existing assets 9,360 6,144 

Expansion of existing assets 13 569 

Upgrade of existing assets 6,287 4,600 

Total 25,354 21,219 

 

Figure 2: Capital Spend by Expenditure Type 2019-20 
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Projects to be completed 

Significant incomplete capital projects as at 30 June 2020 are listed below by ward. Unspent project funds 
have been carried forward to the 2020-21 financial year to maintain the unspent component of each project 
budget. 

Table 3: Significant unspent project funds carried forward to 2020-21 

 

Ward Project (Funds) 

Anglesea Ward  Anglesea Transfer Station e-waste facilities ($0.44m) 
 Coogoorah Park Playground  ($0.17m) 
 Camp Road Pathway ($0.14m) 

Lorne Ward  Stribling Reserve Pavilions Redevelopment ($6.6m) 
 Deans Marsh Pathways ($0.4m) 
 Deans Marsh Playground ($0.2m) 

Torquay Ward  Surf Coast Multi-purpose Indoor Stadium ($6.7m)  
 South Beach Road upgrade ($0.4m) 
 Fisher St Renewal ($0.2m) 

Winchelsea Ward  Horseshoe Bend Rd Culvert ($1.1m) 
 Coombes Road Widening ($0.9m) 
 Forest Road upgrade ($0.4m) 
 Winchelsea Pathways ($0.4m) 

 

Working Capital 

Working capital (current assets/current liabilities) at the end of the financial year was $49.5m or 291%, which 
is slightly lower than the budgeted position of 383%. Working capital is an indicator of an organisation’s 
ability to meet its financial commitments over the coming 12 months. 

Borrowings 

Borrowings increased in 2019-20 by $4.9m. Council continues to maintain a responsible debt level relative to 
its rate revenue base. A number of loans in the portfolio were re-financed in 2019-20, achieving a 
significantly lower average interest rate over the life of portfolio. 

Council’s debt strategy is outlined in the 2020-21 annual budget. It focuses on responsible use of debt levels 
and compliance with the sound financial management principles outlined in the Local Government Act 1989. 

No new borrowings have been budgeted in the 2020-21 financial year.  
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Figure 3: Debt management plan 2019-20 to 2023-24 

 

Cash Position 

Figure 4: Cash position as at 30 June 2020 

 
Table 4: Cash position compared to budget 

 

 Budget ($’000) Actual ($’000) 

Cash flows from operating activities 22,852 32,084 

Cash flows from investing activities (24,891) (26,878) 

Cash flows from financing activities 1209 723 

Net increase/(decrease in cash held) (830) 5,929 

Cash and Investments at start of year 45,491 54,527 

Net movement for the year 9,171 12,239 

Cash and investments at end of year 54,662 66,766 
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Council’s cash and investment balance of $66.8m does not represent discretionary cash. In fact, only $2.4m 
is available as unallocated cash. The remainder is held for either statutory or contractual reasons, or has 
been allocated by Council for specific purposes. 

Our allocated reserves cater for items such as: 

 Anglesea Landfill, including capital works and site rehabilitation and aftercare to comply with EPA 
standards after the landfill has reached capacity 

 unspent funding for projects that are yet to be completed 
 replacement programs for our plant and equipment assets. 

What’s in store for next year? 

The 2020-21 budget outlines Council’s priorities for the next financial year, and is guided by Council’s 
purpose, to help the shire’s community and environment to thrive. 

Council will deliver $31 million of capital works in 2020-21, which includes major projects already underway, 
such as the Surf Coast Multi-Purpose Stadium and the Stribling Reserve Redevelopment. 

We have also allocated a further $2.8m for non-capital projects in 2020-21, including $1.0 million allocation 
to Council’s Covid-19 support package (bringing the total value of the package to $2.2 million), the continued 
delivery of our Environmental Leadership program, and other important   
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Description of operations 

Surf Coast Shire Council is responsible for more than 100 services, from family and children’s services, 
traffic regulation, open space, youth facilities, waste management and community building; to matters 
concerning business development, planning for appropriate development and ensuring accountability for 
Council’s budget.  

This broad range of community services and infrastructure for residents support the wellbeing and prosperity 
of our community.  

Council’s vision, strategic objectives and strategies to further improve services and facilities are described in 
our Council Plan (incorporating the Health and Wellbeing Plan) 2017-21 and the associated budget and are 
reported upon in this document.  

The delivery of services, facilities, support and advocacy to achieve the themes in Council’s Council Plan is 
measured by a set of service performance indicators and measures.  

Refer to the section on Our Performance for more information about Council services.  
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Our organisation 

Organisational structure 
A chart setting out the organisational structure of the Council is shown below. 
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Executive Management Team 

Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has responsibility for 
the day to day management of operations in accordance with the strategic directions of the Council Plan. 
The CEO and three general managers form the Executive Management Team (EMT) and lead the 
organisation. Details of the CEO and the senior officers reporting directly to the CEO are set out below. 

Keith Baillie  

Chief Executive Officer  

Bachelor of Economics, Master of Business Administration (Local Government), Fellow Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, Fellow CPA Australia, Fellow Local Government Professionals 

Keith commenced in January 2015 after eight years as CEO with the Shire of Campaspe. Previous roles 
include Executive Manager Corporate Services at John Sands Australia and various management roles in 
information technology and project management within the private sector. Keith came to local government 
via a wide range of community volunteering roles.  

Anne Howard 

General Manager Governance and Infrastructure 

Bachelor of Engineering (Civil), Master of Infrastructure Engineering, Master Business Administration 

Anne joined the Surf Coast Shire in March 2016 .Anne’s diverse responsibilities since joining local 
government in 2001 have included economic development and tourism, corporate and community planning, 
strategic planning, asset management and the program management office. Prior to this Anne’s private 
industry experience includes environmental consulting, project management and delivery of environmental 
health infrastructure in remote aboriginal communities. 

Chris Pike 

General Manager Culture and Community  

Bachelor of Town Planning, Postgraduate Diploma in Town Planning, Postgraduate Diploma in Business 
Administration 

Chris was appointed in October 2013. His diverse career spans community sector roles in the United 
Kingdom and state and local government roles in Australia. Chris previously worked with the City of Port 
Phillip in various management roles, across community services, economic development and corporate 
planning functions. 

Ransce Salan 

General Manager Environment and Development 

Bachelor of Applied Science (Environmental Health), Graduate Diploma of Management, Master of Business 
Administration with majors in Local Government and Marketing, Postgraduate studies in Urban Living, 
Architecture and Urban Design, member of PIA (Planning Institute of Australia) and has been a Certified 
Practicing Planner, Building Surveyor and Environmental Health Officer throughout his career.  

Ransce joined Surf Coast Shire Council in May 2017. He previously worked with Nillumbik Shire Council as 
General Manager Environment and Planning, and with Devonport City Council in Tasmania as Director of 
Planning and Environment. Other local government roles include Group Manager Development and Natural 
Resources at Eurobodalla Shire in New South Wales, Divisional Manager of Sustainable Development at 
Eurobodalla and Manager Sustainability at Kogarah Council in Sydney.  
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Council staff 

Workplace culture 

Our People and Culture Strategy is focused on helping our people and organisation to thrive, and in turn, 
align the actions and behaviour of our people with the Organisation Purpose and Direction. This is enabled 
by Our Approach – a series of behavioural commitments that expand on Council’s previous set of values. 

Throughout 2019 -2020, we continued to improve the employee experience with a focus on building the 
capability of leadership at all levels and identifying and removing the barriers to people doing their best. 

COVID-19 Response 

We rapidly responded to adapt our work to respond to the new challenges presented by the COVID-19 
pandemic – work that will continue both in the immediate and longer-term – while ensuring that we continue 
to progress our People & Culture strategy. 

Following the introduction of stage 3 restrictions in early April we transitioned the majority of our office-based 
employees to work from home. This was achieved over a one-week period which was enabled by the 
previous investment made in enabling work to be completed in a more flexible and mobile manner as well as 
the maturity of our processes and systems to enable connectivity and productivity.  New processes and 
systems were introduced to support remote working including: 

 Virtual meetings via Zoom which replaced in-person meetings 
 Electronic and digital signatures 
 Online workflows 

Some employees were redeployed from areas where service demand reduced to assist with those services 
experiencing a higher than usual demand due to COVID-19, and to establish new community and business 
support teams.  

At the same time we have a large proportion of our workforce that remained in the field and we have 
continued to support these employees both with health and safety aspects including PPE and COVID-Safe 
procedures but also in relation to changing service requirements and wellbeing. 

We have supported our people through the provisions of our industrial relations framework which includes 
Council’s Enterprise Agreement. Flexibility has been embraced at all levels of the organisation and our 
people have been able to manage both home schooling commitments alongside their work commitments by 
adjusting hours and/or taking leave.  We established a daily communication to employees to provide 
information relating to Council’s COVID-19 response.  We conducted regular pulse checks and consulted 
with our people regarding the development of COVIDSafe Workplace Plans and plans for future ways of 
working both with and beyond COVID. 

Our Workforce  

The total number of full-time equivalent (FTE) employees increased 1.80 per cent during 2019-20, with 
Figure 5 showing how our FTE numbers have increased by 33 per cent over the past seven years. This 
reflects the transition of local kindergarten services to Council, the establishment of a program management 
office and digital transformation team as well as increased capacity to deliver services across all areas of 
Council. 
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Figure 5: Total number of FTE employees 2014-2020* 

 

 
*Excludes casual employees 
 

Table 5: FTE numbers by employment type and gender 2016-2020 

 

Structure 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Permanent full time male 119.00 123.00 134.00 132.00 136.00 

Permanent full time female 65.00 65.00 65.00 77.00 67.00 

Permanent part time male 13.31* 13.71* 17.21* 18.32* 17.07* 

Permanent part time female 77.00* 93.24* 88.32* 94.00* 107.05* 

Total 274.31 294.95 304.53 321.32 327.12 

Casual - male 15** 14** 9** 9** 10.00** 

Casual - female 85** 57** 56** 55** 60.00** 

 

*Part-time hours equated to FTE.   **Headcount – not counted towards FTE. 

In terms of workforce composition, we employ a high proportion of part-time and casual employees  

(Figure 6 - headcount). 
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Figure 6: Percentage of employees by employment type 2019-20 

 
Although women make up 54 per cent of our total workforce, Figure 7 shows 67 per cent of full-time roles are 
filled by men, while women fill 86 per cent of part-time and 80 per cent of casual roles. We continue to focus 
on gender equity, including providing opportunities for all employees to work flexibly to enable them to 
achieve their goals both in and outside of their working lives. 

Figure 7: Headcount number of employees by employment type and gender 2019-20 
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Figure 8: FTE employees by division 2019-20 

 

 

Table 6: Divisional breakdown of FTE employees by employment type and gender 2019-20 

 

Gender 
Office of 
the CEO 

Governance 
and 
Infrastructure 

Community 
and Culture 

Environment 
and 
Development 

Total 

Permanent full-time male 3 60 34 39 136 

Permanent full-time 
female 

3 15 23 26 67 

Permanent part-time male 0 5.17 6.48 5.42 17.07 

Permanent part-time 
female 

1.26 20.29 58.46 27.04 107.05 

Casual male 0 0 0.95 0.33 1.28 

Casual female 0 0.08 4.25 0.75 5.08 

Total Including casual 

employees 
7.26 100.54 127.14 98.54 333.48 

 

Table 7: Employment bands of FTE by employment type and gender 2019-20 

  

Structure 
Band 

1 

Band 

2 

Band 

3 

Band 

4 

Band 

5 

Band 

6 

Band 

7 

Band 

8 

All 

other 
Total 

Permanent full 

time - female 

0.00 0.00 2.00 15.00 8.00 18.00 14.00 5.00 5.00 67.00 

Permanent full 

time - male 

0.00 1.00 32.00 7.00 25.00 23.00 27.00 6.00 15.00 136.00 

Permanent part 

time - female 

2.73 5.35 3.59 26.48 15.39 21.59 6.98 0.80 24.14 107.05 

Permanent part 

time - male 

0.69 2.88 2.47 1.21 2.77 4.07 0.63 0.84 1.49 17.05 
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Structure 
Band 

1 

Band 

2 

Band 

3 

Band 

4 

Band 

5 

Band 

6 

Band 

7 

Band 

8 

All 

other 
Total 

Casual - female 0.84 0.70 1.76 1.25 0.06 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.48 5.09 

Casual - male 0.07 0.52 0.11 0.00 0.57 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.27 

Total 4.33 10.45 41.93 50.94 51.79 66.66 48.61 12.64 46.11 333.46 

 
Workplace Diversity 
Our proactive duty to ensure compliance with equal opportunity and other workplace-related legislation and 
to eliminate all forms of discrimination continues to be demonstrated through the implementation of our 
Workplace Diversity Commitment.  

Our internally focussed Workplace Diversity Commitment builds on the commitment made to our community 
through Council’s Accessible and Inclusive Surf Coast Shire Strategic Plan (2014-2024) to build healthy, 
well-connected communities where everyone can participate. This commitment has four focus areas – 
valuing uniqueness gender equity, young people and people with disability. 

Young people 

Fifty-eight per cent of our current workforce falls into the age category of 45 years and over (Figure 9), 
presenting several challenges in terms of workforce planning, career development and succession planning. 
These continue to be addressed as part of several strategic workforce planning initiatives. 

 

Figure 9: Employees by age group 2019-20 

 
 
We hosted a number of university and high school students with a variety of different types of placements as 
indicated in Table 8. 

University students assisted officers with projects being completed in the People & Culture, Early Years 
(Kindergartens) and Maternal and Child Health teams.  

Nine students undertook structured work experience programs with Council, three more than the previous 
financial year. The majority of these programs rotate students through multiple work areas of Council’s 
operations ensuring that students broaden their knowledge of the services Council delivers whilst gaining 
practical knowledge to help direct their future careers.  

Council also doubled the amount of apprentices/trainees employed in the previous year with two apprentices 
being employed in the works teams.  

  

65+
5%

55 ‐ 64
24%

45 ‐54 
29%

35 ‐ 44
24%

25 ‐ 34
15%

<24
2%

65+ 55 ‐ 64 45 ‐ 54 35 ‐ 44 25 ‐ 34 20 ‐ 24
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Table 8: Work placements hosted in 2019 - 20  

  

Type of placement 
Number of students 

hosted 

Internship (university) 6 

Work experience (high school) 9 

VCAL 3 

Apprenticeship/Traineeship 4 

 
Recruitment trends 
We appointed people to 62 job vacancies in 2019-20. The majority of recruitment activity occurred in the first 
three quarters of the year with significant slowing due to the slowing employment market as a result of 
COVID-19. 

We received 1,119 applications for vacancies which is a decrease in  the amount of applications on the 
previous year. This decrease is reflects the decline in recruitment activity that occurred once COVID-19 
impacted upon our people and decreased Council’s turnover rate. On average 18 applications were received 
per role.  

An overview of recruitment trends for the past ten years is included in Table 9. 

 

Table 9: Recruitment trends 2010-19 

 

 
2010-

11 
2011-

12 
2012-

13 
2013-

14 
2014-

15 
2015-

16 
2016-

17 
2017-

18 
2018-

19 
2019-

20 

Recruitment 
processes 

N/A 55 70 65 64 70 91 81 99 62 

Applications 
received 

N/A 906 1,360 1,633 1,201 1,083 1,654 1,245 2,149 1,119 

 
Child Safe Organisation 
Council is required to comply with the Child Safe Standards and Reportable Conduct Scheme that have 
been introduced as part of the Victorian Government’s response to the Betrayal of Trust Inquiry. The Child 
Safe Standards are compulsory minimum standards under the Child Wellbeing and Safety Act 2005 that 
apply to organisations that provide services to children, such as ours.  

The standards were introduced to drive cultural change in organisations so that protecting children from 
abuse is embedded in the everyday thinking and practice of leaders, officers and volunteers. 

Council maintains a leadership position on this legislation by: 

 requiring all employees to gain a Working With Children Check (WWCC) 
 requiring all employees and volunteers to complete either an online or face to face training module 

on the Child Safe Standards and the Reportable Conduct Scheme 
 requiring all contractors and volunteers with direct contact with children to gain a Working With 

Children Check ( WWCC). 
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Employee achievements recognised  
Recognising and celebrating our employees’ achievements is vital to our workplace culture. In 2019-20, 55 
of our people reached significant service milestones. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic the Recognition of 
Service Awards ceremony has been delayed to occur until late 2020, if possible. A snapshot of these areas 
across all divisions where milestones were reached are shown in Table 10.  

Table 10: Employee Recognition of Service Awards 2019-20 
 

Length of Service (years)  

Division 5 10 15 20 25 35 40 

Culture and Community 10 5 4 1 2   

Environment and Development 7 6 5  1   

Governance and Infrastructure 5 3 2   3 1 

Office of the CEO        

 
Learning and development 

An ongoing focus on building capability in 2019 – 20 saw our Learning and Development team deliver a 
program of strategic and effective development to enable people to do their best.  

We delivered a variety of different programs through online, face to face and experiential learning mediums 
across the topics of leadership, productivity, mental health, resilience and occupational violence and 
aggression. In addition, many individuals participated in informal role specific training and development 
opportunities. 

Face-to-face learning ceased in March due to COVID-19 and alternative methods of learning and 
development continue to be promoted including Council’s online learning system, Litmos as well as online 
delivery of a variety of curated webinars and/or online workshops. 

Leadership development 

Our leadership journey has included half-yearly people leader forums with people from all levels of 
leadership coming together to explore various elements of employee engagement and develop actions and 
interventions. Senior management have continued their development through a 360 degree feedback 
process with ongoing coaching to provide insight and enhance their leadership styles. Frontline and 
emerging leaders have participated in highly experiential development programs including coaching, 
emotional intelligence, character strengths awareness, difficult conversations, and leadership development.  

Further study supported 

We encourage employees to participate in accredited further education programs, which enhance their 
respective roles and future career opportunities, while offering added value to the organisation.  

During 2019 - 2020, our professional development program supported a small number of employees who 
made applications for higher education studies. This included financial assistance towards study costs and, 
in some cases, granting study leave to attend lectures and exams. 

Workplace health and safety 

The Wellbeing, Health and Safety Strategy 2019 – 21 was launched to specify key objectives aligned to the 
identified focus areas and the strategy principles of promotion, prevention and support. These focus areas 
were established by the Leadership Team through analysis of reporting and industry data to ensure a 
coordinated effort to achieve Council’s vision and targets. 
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COVID-19 Response 

COVID-19 has seen Council adapt and demonstrate its culture and resilience in ways never before seen. 

Council has responded to the requirement to maintain a safe workplace by: 

 undertaking risk assessments of activities that are required to be performed in the field and cannot be 
completed from home, 

 providing ergonomic training and support to Council’s workforce who have transitioned to working 
from home, 

 sourcing and distributing a stockpile of appropriate PPE to employees and providing appropriate 
instruction on the effective use of PPE, 

 developing a COVIDSafe Workplace framework and plans to support ongoing operation and service 
delivery throughout the pandemic ,and 

 implementing COVIDSafe practices within all workplaces. 

Wellbeing 

We will create a positive workplace that enables employees to maintain and improve their own wellbeing. 

Although already identified as a key strategic goal, a sharpened focus on mental health resources, tools and 
support were established at an early stage during the pandemic and continues to be maintained. The 
wellbeing resources that are being made available to our people include: 

 promotion of our Employee Assistance Program 
 online wellbeing app with learning resources to support wellbeing goals 
 facilitation of online webinars to assist with stress management 
 establishing additional avenues for connection online 
 scheduled check-ins with vulnerable employees 
 additional training for leaders to manage remote teams 
 encouragement of people to remain active and include physical activity onto their daily routine and 

participation in virtual fitness programs 

All employees have been invited to participate in a wellbeing initiative to measure how the workforce is 
managing with the changing working environment. These results will be used to provide appropriate support 
to our teams in a rapidly changing work environment. 

Occupational violence & aggression 

We will promote a zero tolerance approach to violence and aggression by the public towards Council staff 
who are performing their roles. 

Occupational violence and aggression (OVA) continues to be a significant issue across the local government 
sector and managing and preventing this issue remains a major focus for the organisation. Additional training 
was delivered to customer facing employees during the 2019 – 20 financial year. Specific risk mitigation 
controls for the management of occupational violence and aggression risks have been implemented for 
customer facing employees who continue to deliver services during the COVID-19 pandemic 

Manual handling 

We will prevent manual handling injuries from occurring and support injured workers in their recovery. 

Manual handling remained a focus in the 2019 – 20 financial year, due to the COVID-19 pandemic some 
components of Council’s manual handling program have been postponed into the 2020 -21 financial year. 
The program identified high intensity manual handling roles within the organisation; and incumbents working 
with an occupational rehabilitation provider to implement work and personal strategies to maintain their 
physical health. The lowest number of manual handling injuries since the program was launched was 
recorded in the 2019 – 20 financial year.  

Vehicle safety 

We will actively work with Council’s contractors to identify improvement opportunities and mitigate risk of 
injury.  
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Council has implemented a digital system for inspections of plant and equipment with real time tracking of 
defects. This initiative has been supported with a variety of training programs for vehicle and plant operators 
on safe equipment use and handling. 

Contractor management 

We will promote a culture of safe driving to manage the risk of serious vehicle incidents, 

Engagement with contractors was enhanced in the 2019 -20 financial year with significant enhancements to 
Councils contractor management system. Council’s contractors are audited at scheduled intervals 
determined by the risk profile of their activities. Council officers have delivered a bespoke system to maintain 
contractor details and ensure they continue to meet the requirements of Councils robust safety management 
system. No contractors recorded a lost time injury while performing works on behalf of Council during the 
2019 – 20 financial year. 

Our safety culture and performance 

Council’s Leadership Group affirmed its dedication to the promotion of safe and healthy work practices, 
prevention of injuries, and support for employees who experience a wellbeing or health challenge through 
continued safety management system accreditation. Surf Coast remains one of the few non-metropolitan 
shires to undertake this accreditation process, indicating our commitment to employee, contractor and 
volunteer health and safety. 

Addressing recommendations arising from the 2020 AS 4801 and OHSAS 18001 certification surveillance 
audit is a focus; with accreditation to the new international standard for safety management systems 
(ISO45001) in early 2021 a priority. 

Nine lost time injuries were reported for the year with all workers returning to full hours within the financial 
year. This result demonstrates the implementation of effective injury management strategies and will have an 
ongoing impact on premium for the next three workers compensation insurance cycles. Proactive injury 
management performance over the past three years has resulted in a 22 per cent reduction in workers 
compensation insurance premium costs for 2020 – 21 in addition to a 23 per cent reduction in 2019 -20. 
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Our volunteers 

Volunteers are integral to our organisation and our community. Council continues its commitment to offering 
meaningful volunteer opportunities and creating an environment where volunteers can thrive. During 2019-
20, over 170 people volunteered their time and skills to help Council deliver important services to community 
members and visitors. From mid-March through to the end of June 2020 volunteers were asked to Stay Safe 
at Home in line with COVID-19 restrictions, this resulted in a decrease of approximately 36% in the number 
of volunteer hours and the estimated economic value of volunteers based on 2018-19 figures. 

Volunteer numbers for the year included: 

 Delivered meals – 18 

 Visitor Information Centres – 85 

 Café Support Program – 4 

 Section 86 committees – 64  

 

Table 11:  Economic value of volunteer services 2019-20 

 

Volunteer service Total  

volunteer hours 

Estimated  

economic value* 

Visitor Information Centres  6,591 $229,960 

Delivered Meals 350 $12,212 

Café Support Program 147 $5,129 

Section 86 Committees  2,685 $93,662 

Total              9,773 $340,963 

*Economic value is calculated according to the formula and hourly rate specified in the G21 Geelong Region Alliance 

Volunteering Strategy (2012). 
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Report of operations 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Our performance 
Planning and accountability framework 
 
The planning and accountability framework is found in part 6 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act). 
The Act requires councils to prepare the following planning and reporting documents: 

 A council plan within the six months after each general election or by 30 June, whichever is later 
 A strategic resource plan for a period of at least four years and include this in the council plan 
 A budget for each financial year 
 An annual report in respect of each financial year. 

The following diagram shows the relationships between the key planning and reporting documents that make 
up the planning and accountability framework for local government. It also shows that there are opportunities 
for community and stakeholder input and feedback at each stage of the planning and reporting cycle. 
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Council plan 

The Council Plan 2017-21 includes themes, strategic objectives, strategies for achieving these for the four 
year period, strategic indicators for monitoring achievement of the strategic objectives and a strategic 
resource plan. The following are the five themes as detailed in the Council Plan. 

 

Theme Council’s Commitment Strategic Objectives 

1. Community wellbeing 
 

 

We will create an inclusive 
community where everyone 
can participate and 
contribute 

 Support people to participate in and 
contribute to community life  

 Support people to be healthy and 
active 

 Improve community safety 
 Provide support for people in need 

2. Environmental 
wellbeing 

 

 

We will preserve and 
enhance the natural 
environment 

 Drive the use of renewable energy  
 Improve the re-use of resources 
 Support local food production 
 Retain and enhance rural land for 

appropriate and sustainable uses  

3. Balancing growth 
 

 

We will provide for growth 
whilst ensuring the intrinsic 
values and character of the 
shire are retained 

 Ensure infrastructure is in place to 
support existing communities and 
provide for growth  

 Strengthen township boundaries and 
support unique township character  

 Understand and manage the impact of 
population and visitation growth in 
neighbouring municipalities and our 
own shire 

4. Vibrant economy 
 

 

We will support innovative, 
sustainable businesses and 
activities that create jobs 
and are valued by the 
community and visitors 

 Support the creation and retention of 
jobs in existing and new businesses to 
meet the needs of a growing 
community  

 Facilitate high quality events 
throughout the year  

 Strengthen the vitality of town centres  
 Support key industry sectors such as 

surfing, tourism, home based, 
construction and rural businesses 

5. High performing 
Council 

 

 

We will deliver valued 
services to the community 

 Ensure Council is financially 
sustainable and has the capability to 
deliver strategic objectives  

 Ensure that Council decision making 
is balanced and transparent and the 
community is involved and informed 

 Provide quality customer service that 
is convenient, efficient, timely and 
responsive 

 Ensure the community has access to 
the services they need  
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Performance 

Council’s performance for the 2019-20 year has been reported against each theme to demonstrate how 
Council performed in delivering on the third year of the Council Plan 2017-21. Performance has been 
measured as follows: 

 Results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council plan
 Progress in relation to the major initiatives identified in the budget
 Services funded in the budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided those

services
 Results against the prescribed service performance indicators and measures.

The relationship between the accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the budget and the Annual 
Report is shown below 

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP). 
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Strategic indicators 

The Council Plan includes 10 strategic indicators that work across the themes, strategic objectives and strategies of the plan to demonstrate Council’s performance in delivery 
on the plan. 

Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

1.  Improvements in 

overall quality of life 

and reported on the 

following cohorts:- 

People under 25 

People over 65 

People with disabilities 

Annual To be developed 

 

 

 

To be developed Describing the Surf 

Coast 

Liveable = 96% 

agree 

Attractive = 88% 

agree 

Safe = 87% agree 

Has potential = 84% 

agree 

Exciting = 55% 

agree 

Describing the Surf 

Coast 

Liveable = 96% 

agree 

Attractive = 88% 

agree 

Safe = 87% agree 

Has potential = 84% 

agree 

Exciting = 55% 

agree 

Not available Decision was 

taken not to collect 

this data in the 

Local Government 

Victoria 2020 

Community 

Satisfaction 

Survey as it was 

deemed unlikely 

that results would 

change 

significantly in a 

single year. 

 

2.  25% of energy is from 

renewable sources by 

2020 

Annual 6% 12% 12% 25% 

(indexed by 6% 

annually) 

14.1% 

(to the end of May 

2020) 

The Surf Coast 

Shire now has the 

highest per capita 

residential rooftop 

solar uptake at 

21.4% households 

in the Barwon 

South West region 

(region average 

17.1%).  Prior to 

our program 

commencing Surf 

Coast was below 

the State average. 
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Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

3.  An increase in housing 

in Winchelsea and 

Moriac 

Annual Lots per year 

Moriac = 1 

Winchelsea = 5 

 

 

Housing starts 

Moriac = 1 

Winchelsea = 14 

Lots per year 

Moriac = 1 

Winchelsea = 28 

 

Housing starts 

Moriac = 5 

Winchelsea = 31 

Lots per year 

Moriac = 0 

Winchelsea = 45 

 

Housing starts 

Moriac = 3 

Winchelsea = 59 

Lots per year 

Moriac = 2 

Winchelsea = 24 

 

Housing starts 

Moriac = 3 

Winchelsea = 25 

Lots per year 

Moriac = 54 

Winchelsea = 52 

 

Housing starts 

Moriac = 47 

Winchelsea = 37 

Growth in the 

release of 

residential lots and 

an increase in 

housing starts 

across both 

townships 

indicates strong 

demand in both 

townships. 

 

4.  Maintain satisfaction in 

planning for population 

growth in Torquay / Jan 

Juc 

(Annual Community 

Satisfaction Survey) 

Annual Population Growth 

2017 = Surf Coast 

51 

2017 = Torquay 50 

 

Surf Coast 49 

Torquay 47 

 

 

Surf Coast 48 

Torquay 41 

 

Surf Coast 51 

Torquay 50 

 

Surf Coast 49 

Torquay 43 

The decline in 

satisfaction with 

planning for 

population growth 

in Torquay is not 

well understood 

and requires 

investigation 

during the 

development of 

the Community 

Vision and Council 

Plan in 2021. The 

state government’s 

Distinctive Areas 

and Landscapes 

project 

commenced in 

2020 providing the 

primary focus for 

the planning of 

future growth in 

Torquay.    
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Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

5.  Increased access to 

public transport 

including trains, public 

buses and community 

buses.  

Annual To be developed To be developed To be developed Develop baseline To be developed Attendance to G21 

Transport Pillar 

every two months. 

Completion of 

additional bus 

shelter (total of 

four). 

Improvements in 

public transport 

timetables such as 

the Anglesea to 

Waurn Ponds. 

With upcoming 

upgrades to 

Waurn Ponds 

station potential for 

addition future 

improvements 

linking Waurn 

Ponds and 

Armstrong Creek 

to the Surf Coast. 

 

6.  Rolling median 

unemployment rate for 

the shire does not 

exceed 3.5% 

Twice 

yearly 

Sept. 2017 

2.5% 

2.43% 2.27% =/<3.5% 1.9% The most recent 

small area labour 

market data 

available is to 

December 2019, 

the average 

unemployment in 

the Surf Coast was 

1.9% in 2018-19.  

Since December 
2019 the 
unemployment 
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Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

rate has changed 
significantly. The 
'Weekly Payroll 
Jobs and Wages 
in Australia, Week 
ending 13 June 
2020' produced by 
the Australian 
Bureau of 
Statistics (ABS) 
reports an 
unemployment 
rate of 9.4% for 
the Warrnambool 
and South West 
(SA4 region) which 
includes the Surf 
Coast Shire. The 
corresponding 
percentage for the 
Geelong region 
was 7.9%. The 
actual result is 
likely to be higher 
taking into account 
under-employment 
particularly for 
young people and 
female workers. 

7.  Meet the financial 

benefits targets in the 

long term financial plan 

Annual $453,000 $550,000 $642,710 $550,000 

 

$600,164 The Business 

Improvement 

Program achieved 

an annual savings 

tally of $600,164 

which exceeds the 

annual target of 

$550,000 across 

the three savings 

programs.  This is 

an excellent result 
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Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

and, in some 

instances, reflects 

a lot of hard work 

completed over 

multiple years. 

8.  Increase in the number 

of digital transactions 

with Council including 

Twice 

yearly 

To be developed To be developed    New Forms tool 

procured to allow 

work flow. All 

external Customer 

facing forms 

converted to digital 

format and 

payments 

functionality added 

to 95% of 

transactions. Work 

continues on 

remaining 

payments and 

internal forms 

design is 

progressing well. 

DocuSign 

procured and 

implemented to 

allow digital 

signatures 

 

a. self- service 
transactions 
(number of on-line 
forms available) 

38 N/A 30 116  

b. Completion of forms 
1,111 N/A TBC 2,469  

9.  Increased performance 

rating for Customer 

Service in the Annual 

Community 

Satisfaction in Local 

Government Survey 

Annual Overall 

performance 2017 = 

61 

69 

 

77 >61 

(life of plan) 

76 Council 

significantly 

outperforms the 

State-wide and 

Large Rural 

averages on 
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Strategic Indicator Timing Actual  

30 June 2017 

Actual  

30 June 2018 

Actual 

30 June 2019 

Target 

30 June 2020 

Actual  

30 Jun 2020 
Comment 

 customer service 

by 6 and 8 points 

respectively with 

results exceeding 

target by 15 

points. 

10.  80% of planning permit 

applications are 

determined within 60 

statutory days by the 

end of the term of the 

plan 

Twice 

yearly 

PPARS result 

71.02% 

80% 84% 80% 81% Council continues 

to achieve 

consistent 

performance in 

determining 

planning permits 

within the statutory 

60 days and has 

improved its 

performance over 

the last four years. 

 

 

Legend 

 
Work in progress Met or exceeded Not met  

   

N/A = No result available N/R = Not reported YTD = Year-do-date TBC – To be confirmed 
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Community wellbeing 

This Council Plan theme represents an inclusive community where everyone can participate and contribute. As 
a result, Council is committed to the following strategic objectives:  

 Support people to participate in and contribute to community life 
 Support people to be healthy and active 
 Improve community safety 
 Provide support for people in need 

Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2019-20 
budget. 

Major Initiatives Progress 

Stribling Reserve Pavilions Redevelopment 

 

 

Demolition work required on the netball and main pavilion has been 

completed ahead of schedule by taking advantage of the low usage 

during the COVID-19 pandemic. The netball pavilion construction is on 

track to complete by December 2020 and construction of the main 

pavilion is due to commence early next year following a detailed design 

process and is expected to be completed by November 2021. The 

replacement netball and main pavilions will bring far-reaching benefits 

to the community. This project has evolved through a great community 

partnership with a community led governance model that includes 

representatives from Stribling Reserve Committee of Management 

(Project Owner), Lorne Football and Netball Club, Lorne P-12 College 

and Council. 

Positive Ageing Transition 

 

 

The Australian Government is changing the way aged and disability 

services will be delivered in the future. The government plans to 

increase consumer choice to ensure services are efficient and cost-

effective. The changes mean councils will not automatically be the 

provider of aged services in their area. Surf Coast Shire Council has 

been investigating how the changes could impact on the services it 

provides. The July 2018 Council meeting marked the completion of the 

Positive Ageing service review and at the Council meeting on 25 

June 2019, Council adopted the Reform Readiness Plan (available on 

the Council website).  

Council has been working with the Positive Ageing Advisory 

Committee. This community-based committee provided input and 

recommendations into the planning stages of Council strategies, plans 

and policies that relate to older people. Since December 2019, Positive 

Ageing services have been transitioning to the Commonwealth and 

State Government elected providers. This transition is scheduled to 

conclude on the 30 September 2020.  
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Service Performance 

This section outlines the activities and initiatives for Council services and key strategic activities. 
 

Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Budget 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Communications, Community Engagement and Advocacy 

This service is responsible for coordinating Council 

communications, including liaising with media, formulating media 

releases, preparing publications and delivering digital 

communication. The unit also provides support to the Mayor and 

Councillors in regards to media matters. Council’s community 

engagement and advocacy activity is led and supported by the 

unit. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Community 

Engagement required additional resources during 2019-20, 

resulting in increased recurrent expenditure.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

1,017 

250 

         - 

1,267 

 

- 

        - 

- 

- 

 

1,123 

250 

         - 

1,373 

 

- 

        - 

- 

- 

Community Emergency Management 

This service assists community and Council to plan for, respond to 

and recover from all potential emergencies and their 

consequences.  This includes coordinating arrangements for the 

utilisation and implementation of Council resources in response to 

emergencies and arrangements for the provision of assistance to 

the community during recovery from emergencies. The unit 

prepares and maintains fire and other emergency management 

plans integrated with other local, regional and state plans. The unit 

also delivers fire prevention programs under the CFA Act and 

community resilience outreach programs with high risk 

communities. The 2019-20 recurrent variance to budget is a result 

of secondment of staff to provide assistance to fire affected 

councils.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

 

600 

153 

         - 

753 

 

240 

  (240) 

- 

- 

 

580 

153 

        (24) 

709 

 

224 

  (240) 

(16) 

- 

Community Health and Development 

This program area aims to support communities to be resilient and 

empowered through creating inclusive communities where 

everyone can participate and contribute. They are responsible for 

implementing many Council Plan strategies under the pillar of 

Community Wellbeing, addressing issues such as: Preventing 

Violence Against Women, Gender Equity, Community Safety, 

Community Development, Healthy Eating and Physical Activity, 

Communities of Place and Interest, Volunteering and Alcohol, 

Tobacco and Other Drugs. The unit also focuses on community 

capacity building via community development activities and grants. 

The 2019-20 recurrent expenditure was impacted by COVID-19 

with the deferment of the second round of the Small Grants 

Program. Operational project grant funding was secured during 

2019-20 for initiatives such as Free from Violence Program, 

Alcohol and Drug Action Plan 2018-2021 and the VicHealth Walk 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

550 

102 

   (56) 

596 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

505 

102 

   (63) 

544 

 

39 

   (41) 

(2) 

- 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Budget 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

to School - Healthy Eating and Active Living Action Plan 2018 – 

2021. 

Early Years and Youth 

This service aims to support families, children and young people to 

achieve their full potential.  This is achieved through the provision 

of family oriented support services including kindergartens, toy 

libraries, maternal and child health, youth development 

programs, family day care and occasional care programs. The unit 

also supports playgroups, visiting specialists and the provision of 

access to facilities and services. Revenue in this area is generated 

mainly from government grants received and user service fees. 

During 2019-20, additional State and Commonwealth grant funding 

was provided to Council as a result of COVID-19. New operational 

project funding was also secured during 2019-20 for Maternal and 

Child Health and Early Years initiatives. The unspent project 

funding has been carried forward into 2020-21. Capital  spend at 

kindergartens included new project works as a result of successful 

grant funding applications.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

3,862 

901 

 (2,843) 

1,920 

 

72 

      (72) 

- 

 

- 

 

3,956 

901 

 (2,946) 

1,911 

 

90 

   (165) 

(75) 

 

56 

Facilities & Open Space Operations    

This service manages a wide range of Council facilities and 

associated infrastructure (e.g. indoor sports facilities, 

kindergartens, recreation, early years, public toilets, community 

halls). It is responsible for managing and programming several 

sports and multi-purpose community facilities including aquatic 

facilities that provide a source of income through user fees. The 

unit also maintains and develops Council’s parks and open space 

assets (e.g. recreation reserves, playgrounds, skate parks, trees, 

nature reserves). In 2019-20 recurrent facility and sports program 

revenue and expenditure was impacted by COVID-19 restrictions, 

with employee vacancies also contributing to the variance. The 

operational project for the Winchelsea Health Club 24/7 Access 

has been carried forward into 2020-21. Capital projects in progress 

have been carried forward into 2020-21 including Deans Marsh 

Memorial Park Playground.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

7,562 

(315) 

   (375) 

6,872 

 

50 

         - 

50 

 

1,467 

 

7,372 

(315) 

   (319) 

6,738 

 

- 

         - 

- 

 

1,488 

Library and Arts Development 

This service provides a varied program of arts and cultural 

activities. Council develops policies and strategies to facilitate art 

practice often in partnership with community members.  The 

function is also responsible for the provision of library services 

and manages a service agreement with the Geelong Regional 

Library Corporation. Library services are provided at the Torquay 

branch and across the municipality with a mobile service. 

Operational projects undertaken during 2019-20 included the Pop 

Up Art Space and the Arts Community Strengthening Contribution. 

The Torquay Cultural Hub (inc. Library) Feasibility Study capital 

project was completed but not capitalised, whilst the adopted 

budget capital allocation for the Anglesea Hall Sound Doctor 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

 

894 

37 

      (3) 

928 

 

59 

      (4) 

55 

100 

 

883 

37 

        - 

920 

 

45 

      (3) 

42 

- 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Budget 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Seeking Matching Contribution has been carried forward into 2020-

21.  

 

Positive Ageing 

Over the past three years, preparations have been made to 

support the transition of in-home aged care service delivery to 

alternative providers. This transition to new service providers is 

progressing. Once the transition is completed during 2020-21, the 

Positive Ageing team will continue to provide local in-home 

assessment services and support, along with Aged Friendly 

strategic initiatives. Revenue in this area is generated through user 

fees and charges and government grants. During 2019-20, as a 

result of lower service demand and progressive transition, 

recurrent operational revenue and associated expenditure was 

reduced. The operating project to transition the Positive Ageing 

service will continue into 2020-21.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

2,921 

576 

 (2,210) 

1,287 

 

203 

          - 

203 

- 

 

2,419 

576 

 (1,818) 

1,177 

 

175 

          - 

175 

- 

 

Recreation and Open Space Planning 

This service plans for the development and management of 

Council facilities with a primary focus on recreation and multi-

purpose facilities. It is responsible for assessing community-led 

recreation project proposals and delivering numerous recreation 

and open space projects. Delivery of carried forward capital 

projects during 2019-20 contributed to the capital spend variance, 

led by the Surf Coast Multi-Purpose Stadium project, recently 

named Wurdi Baierr stadium.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

979 

227 

      (58) 

1,148 

 

107 

          - 

107 

 

6,820 

 

982 

227 

     (51) 

1,158 

 

103 

    (14) 

89 

 

8,040 
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Service performance indicators 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures 
including explanation of material variations. 

 

REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance 

Indicators 

Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Libraries 
    

  

  Utilisation 
    

  

LB1 Physical library 

collection usage 

8.94 8.60 8.64 6.26 The definition for this indicator 

was changed in 2019/20 and 

cannot be compared against the 

result from previous years. 

Indicator includes physical 

collection items only (previously 

included eCollections). 

  [Number of physical 

library collection item 

loans / Number of 

physical library 

collection items] 

    
Note: From 2019-20, this indicator 

measures the performance of 

physical library items as a subset 

of the wider library collection.  

  Resource standard 
    

  

LB2 Recently purchased 

library collection 

76.80% 76.89% 79.12% 78.94% Purchasing of new collection 

items continued throughout 

COVID-19, meaning there was no 

marked effect due to COVID-19 

on this indicator. 

  

  [Number of library 

collection items 

purchased in the last 5 

years / Number of 

library collection items] 

x100  

    

  Libraries 
    

  

  Service cost 
    

  

LB3 Cost of library service $5.36 $5.84 $6.33 Retired in 

2020 

This measure was replaced by 

LB5 from 1 July 2019. 

    [Direct cost of the library 

service / Number of 

visits] 

    

  Participation  
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance 

Indicators 

Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

LB4 Active library borrowers 

in municipality 

19.43% 18.77% 18.78% 18.19% The indicator measures activity as 

loans of library collection items. It 

does not capture other library 

activity such as children and youth 

programs, digital literacy 

programs and literary events, the 

use of public internet computers, 

using facilities such as meeting 

rooms or study areas, or using 

services such as Wi-Fi, or in 

library use of collections. 

All GRLC library branches were 

closed from Thu 19 March - Mon 8 

June due to COVID-19.Libraries 

reopened on Tue 9 June with 

shorter opening hours and limits 

on the number of library users 

who could enter the library in line 

with social distancing 

requirements. Loans of physical 

collection items was not available 

during this closure period and 

continues to be impacted following 

reopening. 

  [Number of active library 

borrowers in the last 

three years / The sum of 

the population for the 

last three years] x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

LB5 Cost of library service 

per population 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

$20.74 The definition for this indicator 

was changed in 2019-20 and 

cannot be compared against the 

result from previous years. 

Indicator now represents 

operational cost per capita, not 

cost per visit, resulting in a very 

different figure from previous 

years 

  [Direct cost of the library 

service / Population] 

    
Note: This measure is replacing 

the previous 'LB3 Cost of library 

service' indicator which measured 

based on number of visits, see 

retired measures. 

  Maternal and Child 

Health (MCH) 

    
  

  Satisfaction 
    

  

MC1 Participation in first 

MCH home visit 

98.4% 96.8% 96.1% Retired in 

2020 

This measure was replaced by 

MC6 from 1 July 2019. 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance 

Indicators 

Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  [Number of first MCH 

home visits / Number of 

birth notifications 

received] x100 

    
  

  Service standard 
    

  

MC2 Infant enrolments in the 

MCH service 

 

 

 

 

99.07% 102.41% 99.44% 100.86% The percentage of infants enrolled 

into the MCH service can be 

higher than birth notifications as 

‘infants’ are age 0-1 year, 

therefore some families have 

moved into the municipality after 

the birth of the child. The CDIS 

system will pick the child up in one 

municipality only when running 

this report, with one council 

showing an increase and the other 

council showing a decrease. 

  [Number of infants 

enrolled in the MCH 

service (from birth 

notifications received) / 

Number of birth 

notifications received] 

x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

MC3 Cost of the MCH service $82.62 $85.54 $77.56 $76.36 The service has increased due to 

delivering Department Health & 

Human Service (DHHS) funded 

programs such as increased 

‘Enhanced’ funding, the new 

Sleep and Settling initiative. 

Council also increased staff levels 

for the service after the 2018 year, 

so the results are now 

demonstrating that increase. 

  [Cost of the MCH 

service / Hours worked 

by MCH nurses] 

    

  Participation 
    

  

MC4 Participation in the MCH 

service 

78.42% 77.40% 77.70% 76.74% COVID 19 delayed visits for some 

older children as parents chose 

not to have phone consults (which 

replaced all non-essential face to 

face visits from April to July). 

  

  [Number of children who 

attend the MCH service 

at least once (in the 

year) / Number of 

children enrolled in the 

MCH service] x100 

    

  Participation 
    

  

MC5 Participation in the MCH 

service by Aboriginal 

children 

81.25% 94.12% 90.91% 85.71% COVID 19 delayed visits for some 

older children as parents chose 

not to have phone consults (which 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance 

Indicators 

Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  [Number of Aboriginal 

children who attend the 

MCH service at least 

once (in the year) / 

Number of Aboriginal 

children enrolled in the 

MCH service] x100 

    
replaced all non-essential face to 

face visits from April to July). 

 
Satisfaction 

    
  

MC6 Participation in 4-week 

Key Age and Stage visit 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

93.71% The percentage of infants enrolled 

in the MCH service who 

participated in 4-week Key Age 

and Stage visit. This is a new 

indicator and replaces ‘MC1 

Participation in first MCH home 

visit’. 

  [Number of 4-week key 

age and stage visits / 

Number of birth 

notifications received] 

x100 

    

  



 

SURF COAST SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20   |   60 

Environmental leadership 

This Council Plan theme represents preserving and enhancing the natural environment. As a result, Council is 
committed to the following strategic objectives:  

 Drive the use of renewable energy 
 Improve the re-use of resources and support local food production 
 Retain and enhance rural land for appropriate and sustainable uses 

Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2018-19 budget. 

Major Initiatives Progress 

Solar Power at Anglesea Landfill As part of Council’s Solar Installations On Council Buildings program, a 

15kW solar system has been installed at the Anglesea transfer station on 

the roof of the community resale centre. This system was completed as part 

of the broader program which included installing a total of a 135kW solar 

capacity at four Council sites and is expected to reduce electricity costs by 

more than $22,000 per annum. This works helps to advance on Council’s 

corporate target of procuring 100 per cent of operational electricity usage 

from renewable sources. 

Solid Waste Management Strategy This initiative was deferred in the December 2019 Council Meeting, with the 

project funds returned to the Waste Reserve until other waste projects) are 

undertaken. 

Service Performance 

This section outlines the activities and initiatives for Council services and key strategic activities. 

Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Environment 

This service ensures that Council complies with Victorian and 

Commonwealth Government legislative requirements regarding the 

environment, including: native vegetation; listed species and 

ecological communities; pest plants and animals; and statutory 

planning referrals. A wide range of Council Plan strategies related to 

pest plant and animal management, sustainability, environmental 

leadership and climate change are also delivered. The unit provides 

expertise in the management of Council’s many nature reserves 

(including the world famous Bells Beach Surfing Recreation 

Reserve), rural roadsides and also some waterways. The unit 

provides specialist environmental and sustainability advice internally 

to Council and externally to community groups, local businesses, 

agencies and members of the public. 2019-20 capital spend reflects 

delivery of the ongoing Towards Environmental Leadership program.  

Recurrent Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

 

Capital 

 

998 

291 

         - 

1,289 

 

388 

     (6) 

382 

 

232 

 

1,001 

291 

     (2) 

1,290 

 

404 

    (35) 

369 

 

135 

Waste Management 

The Waste Management function involves management of Council’s 

landfill and transfer stations, waste collection including kerbside 

rubbish collection and street cleaning and maintenance of street litter 

Recurrent Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

 

6,861 

299 

 

7,497 

299 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

bins. The Waste Management unit has a strong focus on community 

education and waste services planning. Revenue in this area is 

generated mainly from garbage collection fees and the municipal 

waste charge. Council’s 2019-20 recurrent operations was impacted 

by the sudden closure of recycling contractor SKM. The wide-

ranging impacts resulted in once off State Government grant support 

during this period and also resulted in increased waste disposal 

revenue due to additional landfill volumes. The recurrent expenditure 

was then impacted by increased procurement, material and service 

costs. New operational projects were incorporated during 2019-20, 

including the Shire Wide Food Organics and Green Organics project 

and the Fourth Kerbside Bin project. Capital spend was higher than 

budget due to projects carried forward from 2018-19. 

 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

(10,530) 

(3,370) 

 

182 

          - 

182 

184 

(11,161) 

(3,365) 

 

462 

    (20) 

442 

311 
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Service performance indicators 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures 
including explanation of material variations. 

 

REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Waste Collection 
    

  

  Satisfaction 
    

  

WC1 Kerbside bin collection 

requests 

88.94 107.46 144.62 169.94 The number of collection requests 

received in 2019-20 increased by 

21% on 2018-19 results. Seventy 

percent of the increase was related 

to requests for repairs or 

replacement of garbage bins. The 

number of households receiving a 

household collection service was 

comparable with previous years at 

3% increase.  

  [Number of kerbside garbage 

and recycling bin collection 

requests / Number of 

kerbside bin collection 

households] x1000 

    

  Service standard 
    

  

WC2 Kerbside collection bins 

missed 

4.39 6.30 10.84 10.81 The number of kerbside garbage 

and recycling collection bins missed 

remained consistent in 2019-20 with 

the previous year. Conversations 

are continuing with the contractor to 

reduce this number. The number of 

scheduled kerbside garbage and 

recycling collection bin lifts 

decreased overall as a result of the 

introduction of fortnightly garbage 

collection services in Anglesea 

following the implementation of the 

Food Organics / Garden Organics 

Program (FOGO). 

  

  [Number of kerbside garbage 

and recycling collection bins 

missed / Number of 

scheduled kerbside garbage 

and recycling collection bin 

lifts] x10,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

WC3 Cost of kerbside garbage bin 

collection service 

$86.36 $83.54 $85.57 $88.29 No comment provided as there is no 

material variation. 

    [Direct cost of the kerbside 

garbage bin collection 

service / Number of kerbside 

garbage collection bins] 

    

  Service cost 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

WC4 Cost of kerbside recyclables 

collection service 

$30.92 $31.49 $45.26 $58.69 The large increase in recycling 

expenses continued from the 

previous financial year with 

recycling facility closures within 

Victoria resulting in an additional 

$290k of expenses in the 2019-20 

financial year, up to $1.12m. 

  [Direct cost of the kerbside 

recyclables bin collection 

service / Number of kerbside 

recyclables collection bins] 

    

  Waste diversion 
    

  

WC5 Kerbside collection waste 

diverted from landfill 

54.76% 55.06% 52.97% 48.99% Closure of SKM resulted in 

recyclables collected being 

deposited to landfill. 

  

  [Weight of recyclables and 

green organics collected 

from kerbside bins / Weight 

of garbage, recyclables and 

green organics collected 

from kerbside bins] x100 
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Balancing growth  

This Council Plan theme represents providing for growth whilst ensuring the intrinsic values and character of the Shire 
are retained. As a result, Council is committed to the following strategic objectives:  

 Ensure infrastructure is in place to support existing communities and provide for growth 
 Strengthen township boundaries and support unique township character 
 Understand and manage the impact of population and visitation growth in neighbouring municipalities and our 

own Shire. 

Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2019-20 budget. 

Major Initiatives Progress 

Winchelsea Precinct Structure Plan 

 
Preliminary work has been completed to inform development of a precinct 

structure plan. The project remains on hold due to the current pandemic. 

 

Service Performance 

This section outlines the activities and initiatives for Council services and key strategic activities. 

Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Asset Management 

This service is responsible for integrated and prioritised capital works 

planning. This includes development and implementation of asset 

management plans for planning for the expansion of Council’s asset 

portfolio for the needs of a growing population, as well as planning the 

renewal management of Council’s existing Infrastructure. In addition, the 

function manages and maintains Council’s fleet portfolio as well as 

subdivision design approval and works inspections. 2019-20 recurrent 

revenue was favourable due to higher subdivision supervision fees and 

permit volumes. Recurrent expenditure was favourable due to high use 

of heavy plant on maintenance and capital programs. Capital spend 

reflects the timing of heavy, light and small plant replacement programs. 

 

Recurrent Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

 

969 

(612) 

   (679) 

(322) 

 

35 

         - 

35 

1,924 

 

783 

(612) 

   (795) 

(624) 

 

49 

         - 

49 

1,084 

Engineering Services 

This service is responsible for the design of capital and renewal 

infrastructure projects relating to road and drainage along with providing 

specialist engineering advice internally to Council and externally to 

community groups, local businesses, agencies and members of the 

public. This unit is also involved in development and implementation of 

road safety strategies and traffic and drainage policies. The service also 

oversee traffic management, street lighting upgrades and public 

transport infrastructure improvements throughout the shire. Revenue in 

this area is generated mainly from government grants and user service 

fees. 2019-20 recurrent expenditure was favourable due to employee 

vacancies. Pathway capital projects are progressing and have been 

carried forward into 2020-21, whilst some capital spend was expensed. 

 

Recurrent Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

1,323 

293 

     (65) 

1,551 

 

110 

         - 

110 

2,229 

 

1,144 

293 

     (71) 

1,366 

 

76 

         - 

76 

893 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Planning & Development    

This service is responsible for strategic and statutory planning and 

planning compliance. It is responsible for monitoring Council’s planning 

scheme, developing land use policy and preparing and processing 

amendments to the Planning Scheme. It includes processing all 

planning applications, providing advice and assessing development 

proposals which require a planning permit, and representing Council at 

the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) where necessary. 

Planning compliance services actively encourage compliance with the 

planning scheme and planning permits, including being responsible for 

planning enforcement action through the Magistrates Court or VCAT 

enforcement orders when necessary. Revenue in this area is generated 

mainly from user service fees, some government grants and fines. 

Recurrent expenditure during 2019-20 was favourable due to employee 

vacancies. In progress Strategic Planning operating projects have been 

carried forward into 2020-21. 

 

Recurrent Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

3,557 

891 

  (842) 

3,606 

 

165 

         - 

165 

- 

 

3,316 

891 

  (825) 

3,382 

 

44 

      (2) 

42 

- 
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Service performance indicators 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures 
including explanation of material variations. 

 

REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Animal Management 
    

  

  Timeliness 
    

  

AM1 Time taken to action animal 

management requests 

1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 Council continues to initiate 

responses to animal 

management requests same 

day. 

  

  [Number of days between 

receipt and first response 

action for all animal 

management requests / 

Number of animal 

management requests] 

    

  Service standard 
    

  

AM2 Animals reclaimed 91.07% 90.85% 77.02% 57.48% These figures were significantly 

skewed by one situation in 

2019-20 where 22 cats that 

were unregistered and free 

roaming at one address where 

impounded  and taken to the 

Geelong Animal Welfare Society 

– they had no owner to reclaim 

them.  

  [Number of animals 

reclaimed / Number of 

animals collected] x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

AM3 Cost of animal management 

service 

$57.03 $42.93 $78.00 Retired in 

2020 

This measure was  replaced by 

AM6 from 1 July 2019. 

    [Direct cost of the animal 

management service / 

Number of registered 

animals] 

    

  Health and safety 
    

  

AM4 Animal management 

prosecutions 

0 0 0 Retired in 

2020 

This measure was  replaced by 

AM7 from 1 July 2019. 

    [Number of successful 

animal management 

prosecutions] 

    

AM5 Animals rehomed New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

0.00% Council does not rehome 

animals. All unclaimed animals 

are referred to the Geelong 

Animal Welfare Society. 

Note: New measure for 2019-20 

financial year. 

  [Number of animals rehomed 

/ Number of animals 

collected] x100 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Service cost 
    

  

AM6 Cost of animal management 

service per population 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

$12.17 The overall expenses in Animal 

Management declined by $70k 

mainly in staff allowances, and 

contract expenses; while there 

was an increase in the 

population of 1200. 

  [Direct cost of the animal 

management service / 

Population] 

    
Note: This measure is replacing 

previous 'AM3 Cost of animal 

management service' which was 

based on cost per number of 

registered animals, refer above. 

  Health and safety 
    

  

AM7 Animal management 

prosecutions 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

0.00% There were no animal 

management prosecutions 

during 2019-20. 

  [Number of successful 

animal management 

prosecutions / Number of 

animal management 

prosecutions] x 100 

    
Note: This measure is replacing 

previous 'AM4 Animal 

management prosecutions' 

which was a measure of 

number, not proportion. 

  Statutory Planning 
     

  Timeliness 
     

SP1 Time taken to decide 

planning applications 

48.00 48.00 63.00 76.00 There were a number of large 

complex applications in the year 

that took longer to process and 

pushed out the median number 

of days taken to decide planning 

permits. 
  [The median number of days 

between receipt of a planning 

application and a decision on 

the application] 

    

  Service standard 
     

SP2 Planning applications 

decided within required time 

frames 

71.02% 78.73% 83.93% 80.88% The improvement in service 

performance is due to IT system 

improvements, allocation of 

resources and training provided 

over a 5 year period as part of a 

Planning Customer Service 

Program.  

  [(Number of regular planning 

application decisions made 

within 60 days) + (Number of 

VicSmart planning 

application decisions made 

within 10 days) / Number of 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

planning application 

decisions made] x100 

  Service cost 
     

SP3 Cost of statutory planning 

service 

$1,141.63 $1,480.98 $2,909.65 $2,716.98 The decrease is driven by a 

reduction in overall expenses in 

the Statutory Planning 

department of $40k, mainly 

attributed to a $30k reduction in 

legal fees. Total planning permit 

applications increased from 532 

to 573. 

  [Direct cost of the statutory 

planning service / Number of 

planning applications 

received] 

 

 

    

  Decision making  
     

SP4 Council planning decisions 

upheld at VCAT 

80.95% 50.00% 46.15% 80.00% During 2019-20 Council 

received a total of 573 planning 

applications. Of these 10 

matters were referred to VCAT 

for review. This is the lowest 

number over the last four years, 

however the impact of COVID 

restrictions saw a number of 

matters deferred by VCAT until 

after the reporting period. Due to 

the variable nature of matters it 

is difficult to use percentages 

reported as a reflection of 

Council's performance. 

  [Number of VCAT decisions 

that did not set aside 

council's decision in relation 

to a planning application / 

Number of VCAT decisions 

in relation to planning 

applications] x100 
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Vibrant economy  

This Council Plan theme represents supporting innovative, sustainable businesses and activities that create jobs and 
are valued by the community and visitors. As a result, Council is committed to the following strategic objectives:  

 Support the creation and retention of jobs in existing and new businesses to meet the needs of a growing 
community 

 Facilitate high quality events throughout the year 
 Strengthen the vitality of town centres 
 Support key industry sectors such as surfing, tourism, home-based construction, and rural businesses 

Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2019-20 budget. 

Major Initiatives Progress 

Torquay / Jan Juc Retail and Employment Land 

Strategy 
The strategy will determine the capacity and strategic merit of 

Torquay/Jan Juc’s retail and employment areas, informing the need to 

review the activity centre hierarchy and guiding policy for existing and 

future retail and employment land. A draft background report has been 

prepared by consultants Urban Enterprise, prior to development of a 

draft strategy. 

Service Performance 

This section outlines the activities and initiatives for Council services and key strategic activities. 

Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Civil Works 

This service is responsible for the construction, maintenance and day-to-day 

operation of Council’s sealed and unsealed road network, ensuring that it can 

support day-to-day activities including businesses moving customers, 

supplies and products across the Shire. The Civil Works team also maintains 

drains and footpaths and other civil infrastructure. In undertaking these 

responsibilities, the unit is also required to source and manage contracting 

services to assist with the completion of works, regularly review the standard 

and cost of materials, and to keep up to date with improved work practices. 

Recurrent revenue was favourable during 2019-20 as a result of private 

works contributions (offset in expenditure), additional dust suppression 

funding and volume of legal point of discharge applications. Higher levels of 

recurrent expenditure was incurred for drainage and road maintenance 

works. Capital projects currently being delivered have been carried forward 

into 2020-21. 

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

4,434 

563 

     (33) 

4,964 

- 

         - 

- 

8,583 

 

4,976 

563 

     (57) 

5,482 

- 

         - 

- 

8,016 

Building Compliance & Local Laws 

These diverse services support the economy through overseeing issue and 

compliance with building development controls and enforcement, permits for 

footpath trading, local law enforcement and Victorian Government agencies 

enforcement activities. This service provides staff at school crossings to 

ensure that all pedestrians are able to cross the road safely. It also provides 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

2,009 

689 

(1,664) 

1,034 

 

2,139 

689 

(1,644) 

1,184 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

animal management services including a cat trapping program, a dog and 

cat collection service, a lost and found notification service, a pound service, a 

registration and administration service, an after-hours service and an 

emergency service. Revenue in this area is generated mainly from the 

issuance of infringement notices. During 2019-20, recurrent expenditure was 

impacted by parking infringement bad and doubtful debts, and additional local 

law enforcement over weekends. Capital spend included the unbudgeted  

Parking Overstay Detection System. 

 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

- 

         - 

- 

64 

 Economic Development & Tourism 

The Economic Development and Tourism service has a focus of working with 

business, residents and visitors to create a prosperous place for the Surf 

Coast. The service is responsible for business engagement and support, 

grants administration, tourism marketing, visitor information, event facilitation 

and the Australia National Surfing Museum. It includes supporting existing 

business, attracting new business, providing economic data, grants 

administration, developing business profiles and contributing to local trader 

groups. Tourism development functions include promoting the conference 

market, product development and marketing and funding Great Ocean Road 

Regional Tourism. The service also facilitates a range of small to 

internationally recognised events via our event liaison team and provides an 

event grants funding program. Four visitor centres, the Australian National 

Surfing Museum (ANSM) and Great Ocean Road Heritage Centre service 

and distribute information to visitors and tell nationally significant stories. 

2019-20 recurrent income and expenditure was impacted by COVID-19 

restricting events, and the operations at the Australian National Surfing 

Museum and Visitor Information Centres. Capital spend was a result of the 

Winchelsea Sculptures project carried forward from 2018-19. 

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

 

2,578 

542 

  (595) 

2,525 

 

213 

         - 

213 

 

- 

 

2,457 

542 

  (454) 

2,545 

 

252 

       10 

262 

 

132 

Environmental Health 

This service provides public and environmental health protection services to 

the community and ensures Council complies with its legislative 

duties.  Services include: food safety registration and monitoring compliance 

of food, accommodation, caravan parks and health (hairdressers, tattooist, 

beauty etc.) businesses; Inspection and issuing permits for wastewater 

treatment systems and septic tanks; Investigations of public health complaints 

such as nuisances, food safety, pest control, noise, emissions, odour, 

pollution, asbestos, water quality; Customer Services/Expert Advice on public 

and environmental health matters; Public health emergency response; and 

Childhood and School Immunisation Services. Revenue is generated mainly 

from health registration fees. Councils COVID-19 Support Package reduced 

recurrent revenue as Council provided reimbursements to businesses for a 

number of Environmental Health permits.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

659 

188 

   (313) 

534 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

689 

188 

   (205) 

672 

 

46 

     (29) 

17 

- 

Gherang Gravel Pits    

Revenue in this service area relates to gravel pit royalties. Expenditure 

relating to this service relates to Crown royalty and leasing costs, 

maintenance, management and associated fees. The net revenue generated 

supports the delivery of Council’s operational services and projects. 2019-20 

recurrent operations reflect increased extraction rates, leading to higher 

revenue and higher associated royalty payments.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

 

156 

9 

  (455) 

(290) 

 

 

328 

9 

  (1,005) 

(668) 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

 

 

 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

- 

        - 

- 

 

- 

- 

        - 

- 

 

- 
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Service performance indicators 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures 
including explanation of material variations. 

 

REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Aquatic Facilities 
    

  

  Service standard 
    

  

AF2 Health inspections of aquatic 

facilities 

1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 Unable to conduct inspection 

in April due to COVID-19 

pandemic. 

  

  [Number of authorised officer 

inspections of Council 

aquatic facilities / Number of 

Council aquatic facilities] 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

AF4 Cost of indoor aquatic 

facilities 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Retired in 

2020 

This measure was replaced 

by AF7 from 1 July 2019. 

  [Direct cost of indoor aquatic 

facilities less income 

received / Number of visits to 

indoor aquatic facilities] 

    

AF5 Cost of outdoor aquatic 

facilities 

$8.13 $6.89 $6.17 Retired in 

2020 

This measure was replaced 

by AF7 from 1 July 2019. 

    [Direct cost of outdoor 

aquatic facilities less income 

received / Number of visits to 

outdoor aquatic facilities] 

 

 

 

    

  Utilisation 
    

  

AF6 Utilisation of aquatic facilities 0.23 0.26 0.30 0.19 The downturn in attendee 

numbers at the Winchelsea 

Pool can in part be attributed 

to a milder than seasonal 

summer.  The average temp 

in the 2019/20 season was 

23.6C compared to 2017/18 

and 2018/19 seasons with 

average temperatures of 26C. 

The pool was able to run for 

its normal season and was 

not impacted by the COVID-

19 pandemic. 

  [Number of visits to aquatic 

facilities / Municipal 

population] 

    

  Service cost 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

AF7 Cost of aquatic facilities New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

New in 

2020 

$8.93 New indicator - no 

comparison data. 

  [Direct cost of aquatic 

facilities less income 

received / Number of visits to 

aquatic facilities] 

    
Note: From 2020, this 

measure replaced two 

previous measures: 'AF4 Cost 

of indoor aquatic facilities' and 

'AF5 Cost of outdoor aquatic 

facilities', refer above.  

  Food Safety 
    

  

  Timeliness 
    

  

FS1 Time taken to action food 

complaints 

2.07 1.63 2.02 1.18 Result due to improved staff 

reporting. 

    [Number of days between 

receipt and first response 

action for all food complaints 

/ Number of food complaints] 

 

 

    

  Service standard 
    

  

FS2 Food safety assessments 107.04% 98.62% 99.34% 86.08% Result for 2019 down on 

previous year due to staff 

absences, prioritising 

response to complaints and 

poor performing businesses. 

Staff resources also re-

allocated to Moriac 

Wastewater Project, Caravan 

Park registrations and 

Mosquito Management in 

Anglesea. The number of 

registered food premises 

increased from 693 to 726. 

  

  [Number of registered class 1 

food premises and class 2 

food premises that receive 

an annual food safety 

assessment in accordance 

with the Food Act 1984 / 

Number of registered class 1 

food premises and class 2 

food premises that require an 

annual food safety 

assessment in accordance 

with the Food Act 1984] x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

FS3 Cost of food safety service $510.29 $440.41 $500.97 $561.79 There was an overall cost 

increase for Food Safety of 

$18k in the 2019-20 financial 

year, mainly attributed to staff 

wages; while the number of 

registered food premises 

increased from 693 to 726. 

  [Direct cost of the food safety 

service / Number of food 

premises registered or 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

notified in accordance with 

the Food Act 1984] 

  Health and safety 
    

  

FS4 Critical and major non-

compliance outcome 

notifications 

99.37% 98.84% 95.00% 100.00% Prioritising resources to 

address poor performing 

businesses. 

    [Number of critical non-

compliance outcome 

notifications and major non-

compliance notifications 

about a food premises 

followed up / Number of 

critical non-compliance 

outcome notifications and 

major non-compliance 

notifications about a food 

premises] x100 

    

  Roads 
    

  

  Satisfaction of use 
    

  

R1 Sealed local road requests 39.51 40.03 35.31 45.65 The number of requests last 

year was lower than average. 

At the start of the Covid 19 

restrictions the number of 

complaints increased (third 

quarter 50% higher than 

average) which impacted on 

our year end result. 

  [Number of sealed local road 

requests / Kilometres of 

sealed local roads ] x100 

    

  Condition 
    

  

R2 Sealed local roads 

maintained to condition 

standards 

100.00% 100.00% 99.85% 99.83% A very small number of 

defects were not responded 

to in the agreed timeframe. 

Overall a very pleasing result. 

  

  [Number of kilometres of 

sealed local roads below the 

renewal intervention level set 

by Council / Kilometres of 

sealed local roads] x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

R3 Cost of sealed local road 

reconstruction 

$29.78 $69.39 $48.08 $90.90 The increase in cost for local 

road reconstruction is due 

mainly to one large job - 

Fischer Street Reconstruction 

- which was $183.3 per 

square metre. 

  [Direct cost of sealed local 

road reconstruction / Square 

metres of sealed local roads 

reconstructed] 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

 Service Performance Indicators Results Results Results Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

 

 

  Service Cost 
    

  

R4 Cost of sealed local road 

resealing 

$6.38 $6.95 $7.19 $24.83 The increase in cost for local 

road resealing is high 

proportion of works 

undertaken resurfacing roads 

with asphalt compared to 

spray seal roads in previous 

years. Asphalt is approx. $25 

per square metre compared 

to spray seal at approx. $6 

per square metre. 

  [Direct cost of sealed local 

road resealing / Square 

metres of sealed local roads 

resealed] 

    

  Satisfaction  
    

  

R5 Satisfaction with sealed local 

roads 

61.00 59.00 60.00 58.00 The index score of 58 in the 

2020 Community Satisfaction 

Survey conducted by JWS on 

behalf of Surf Coast Shire 

Council was 2 points lower 

than in 2019. 

  

  [Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

council has performed on the 

condition of sealed local 

roads] 
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High performing Council 

This Council Plan theme represents delivering valued services to the community. As a result, Council is committed to:  

 Ensuring Council is financially sustainable and has the capability to deliver strategic objectives  
 Ensuring that Council decision-making is balanced and transparent and the community is involved and informed 
 Providing quality customer service that is convenient, efficient, timely and responsive 
 Ensuring the community has access to the services they need 

Major Initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the 2019-20 budget. 

Major Initiatives Progress 

Digital Transformation During 2019-20, the program has delivered 22 projects, twelve of which 

have provided efficiency savings as part of our contribution to 

improving capacity and reducing operating costs. Eight have improved 

access to Council services for customers, for example the conversion of 

forms to digital formats with electronic payment facilities and the new online 

Kindergarten Enrolment facility. Two have been instrumental in allowing 

Council to function effectively during COVID-19. The program will continue 

into 2020-21 with a focus on:  

Customer Access 

Introducing multi-channel access for the customer via the web. 

Completing a review of Council’s service delivery, with the intention of 

making all services digital. 

Master Data Management System 

Creating a uniform set of data to enable a single customer view. 

Payments 

Merging and simplifying Council’s many payment methods, improving 

efficiency and reducing costs. 

Digital Forms 

Complete the conversion of Council’s internal and external facing forms to a 

digital format. 
Centralised Compliance Framework Council is developing a centralised compliance framework, policy and 

system to prioritise and track key compliance requirements of Council. 

Template documents are currently being prepared. 
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Service Performance 

This section outlines the activities and initiatives for Council services and key strategic activities. 

Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Business Improvement 

This service leads Council’s efforts to identify and implement business 

improvement opportunities in order to deliver financial, service and other 

benefits.  In particular, realising financial gains is important to ensure Council 

can deliver and maintain the services and new infrastructure required by our 

growing community.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

 

160 

73 

         - 

233 

 

120 

         - 

120 

- 

 

160 

73 

         - 

233 

 

129 

         - 

129 

- 

Corporate Planning 

This service coordinates the development of organisational policy, strategy and 

systems, and provides support in the areas of corporate planning, performance 

measurement and reporting. As a Council support service, $0.6 million is 

distributed as a corporate overhead to the primary services within Council. 

2019-20 recurrent revenue was favourable due to 2016 Council election and 

2019 by-elections non-voter fine revenue forwarded by State Government, 

whilst recurrent expenditure was favourable due to a restructure (offset in 

Councillors, Council Support and Executive Services).  

 

 

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

 

 

600 

(600) 

          - 

- 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

526 

(600) 

      (15) 

(89) 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

Customer Experience   

This service includes the customer experience function that focuses on 

supporting and enhancing customer service across the organisation. This 

service is responsible for coordinating Council’s front of house customer 

services activities, including attending to customer phone and face-to-face 

enquiries.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

836 

250 

         - 

1,086 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

846 

250 

         - 

1,096 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

Councillors, Council Support & Executive Services 

This area provides support for the nine elected representatives of Council as 

well as the four members of the Executive Management Team and includes 

costs of $1.43 million that relate to Council administration and meeting support, 

a portion of governance, legal support, risk management and other corporate 

overheads. Recurrent expenditure was unfavourable due to a restructure 

(offset partially in Corporate Planning). 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

 

2,202 

1,434 

           - 

3,636 

- 

         - 

- 

 

2,384 

1,434 

         (1) 

3,817 

- 

         - 

- 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Revenue 

Capital 

- - 

Digital Transformation 

The Digital Transformation service is tasked with implementing Council’s 

Digital Transformation Strategy. This strategy aims to implement new 

technology to improve the customer experience, build capability in the 

business, and achieve financial outcomes. Council has made a specific capital 

allocation to the implementation of the strategy, but recognises that some of 

the back-office support functions provide corporate services to this DT function. 

The recurrent operations reflects $0.13 million of distributed corporate 

overheads. The Digital Transformation capital program is progressing with a 

number of initiatives delivered benefiting customers and the organisation 

during 2019-20. The program will continue into 2020-21.   

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

- 

134 

         - 

 134 

 

 

- 

         - 

  - 

738 

 

- 

134 

         - 

 134 

 

 

- 

         - 

  - 

838 

Financial Management 

This service provides financial services to both internal and external customers 

of the organisation. The unit is responsible for ensuring that Council complies 

with its statutory obligations in regard to financial planning and reporting as 

well as provision of accounting services and management of Council funds.  

Duties include managing creditors, payroll and financial reporting. The 

Financial Management unit plays an integral part in Council’s long term 

financial planning processes, the formulation of Council’s annual budget, and 

the regular reporting of Council’s financial performance. This function also 

includes management of raising and collection of Council’s primary revenue 

source, rates and charges. Revenue in this area is generated mainly from debt 

collection recoupments. As a Council support service, $1.43 million is 

distributed as a corporate overhead to primary services within Council. As part 

of Council’s COVID-19 Support Package, debt collection was put on hold. This 

timing item has impacted the 2019-20 recurrent revenue.  

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

 

Capital 

 

 

2,505 

(1,426) 

 (786) 

 293 

 

- 

         - 

  - 

- 

 

 

2,521 

(1,426) 

 (741) 

 354 

 

- 

         - 

  - 

- 

Governance 

This service provides statutory and corporate support to the organisation in the 

development and review of organisational policies and procedures, Council 

meeting administration, ensuring compliance with legislative requirements, 

managing Freedom of Information and privacy requests, management of 

procurement and contracts, Council property administration, maintenance of 

public registers, Council election services and management of delegations and 

authorisations. As a Council support service, $0.5 million is distributed as a 

corporate overhead to the primary services within Council. Favourable 

recurrent expenditure occurred during 2019-20 as a result of reduced property, 

advertising and consultant costs. 

 

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

495 

(495) 

         - 

- 

 

53 

         - 

53 

- 

 

461 

(495) 

         - 

(34) 

 

109 

        - 

109 

8 

Information Services 

This service includes two main sections, Information Technology (incl. 

Geospatial Information systems) and Records Management. The Information 

Technology area supports the organisations requirements for computer 

services (incl. provision, support, maintenance, licencing and infrastructure), 

communications (fixed, mobile and data) and geospatial mapping facilities for 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

3,337 

(3,337) 

         - 

- 

 

3,065 

(3,337) 

         - 

(272) 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

council and external uses. The Records Management area manages document 

compliance (incl. creating, capturing, classifying and archival maintenance), 

and processing of incoming and outgoing correspondence. The Information 

Services unit has the responsibility to support the organisation with a cost 

effective and efficient technology service that seeks to improve the 

performance of the organisation. As a Council support service, $3.34 million is 

distributed as a corporate overhead to the primary services within Council. 

During 2019-20, recurrent expenditure was favourable due to reductions in 

technology support and postage expenditure, with remote working also 

providing some benefits in reduced photocopying. 

 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

- 

         - 

- 

105 

 

 

- 

         - 

- 

154 

 

People & Culture 

This service is responsible for supporting the organisation with strategic and 

operational human resources management and includes learning and 

development and occupational health and safety. The activities of the unit 

include developing and implementing strategies, policies and procedures that 

promote high level human resources and industrial relations services. The unit 

also supports the organisation in attracting new staff, retaining existing staff 

and the ongoing development of the skills within Council’s work force. As a 

Council support service, $1.35 million is distributed as a corporate overhead to 

the primary services within Council. During 2019-20, recurrent expenditure was 

impacted by COVID-19 Safe Workplace implementation costs. The capital 

project for Agile Working has been carried forward into 2020-21, with some 

expenditure expensed during 2019-20.   

 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

1,353 

(1,353) 

         - 

- 

 

- 

         - 

- 

227 

 

1,391 

(1,353) 

        (3) 

35 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

Program Management Office 

This service provides leadership, analysis and support for Council’s program of 

projects. This includes a standardised and integrated approach to project 

management across the organisation to ensure the successful delivery of 

Council’s annual program. It has accountability for the successful management 

of all program management processes, systems and functions, including the 

Project Delivery Framework, Project Delivery Process and Program Status 

Reporting for all capital and operational projects. The $0.8 million net cost 

compromises corporate overheads, community project management and 

project sponsor support. The capital allocation compromises community project 

management support, which was not capitalised during 2019-20. 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

 

20 

887 

         - 

907 

 

- 

         - 

- 

51 

 

21 

887 

          2 

910 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

Project Management Team 

Provides project management services to Council to enable delivery of the 

Capital Works Program and many Operational Projects in accordance with 

defined scope, financial and quality standards. Project management costs are 

included in project budgets enabling resources to be scaled up and down with 

the changing size of the program. All direct project costs are cost recovered. 

During 2019-20, high recovery of project management effort on projects 

resulted in favourable recurrent expenditure.  

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

 

(59) 

59 

         - 

- 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 

 

(115) 

59 

         - 

(56) 

 

- 

         - 

- 

- 
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Description of Services Provided Classification 

2019-20 

Adopted 

$’000 

2019-20 

Actual 

$’000 

Risk Management & Legal Services 

This service involves developing and monitoring Council’s risk management 

system, including provision of support to the organisation in relation to 

managing risk, insurance policies and business continuity. As a Council 

support service, $0.75 million is distributed as a corporate overhead to the 

primary services within Council. Favourable recurrent expenditure occurred 

during 2019-20 as a result of lower insurance costs. 

Recurrent 

Operations 

Expenditure 

Overheads 

Revenue 

 

Operating 

Projects 

Expenditure 

Revenue 

Capital 

 

 

711 

(711) 

     (23) 

(23) 

 

40 

         - 

40 

- 

 

691 

(711) 

     (14) 

(34) 

 

23 

         - 

23 

- 

 

 

Service performance indicators 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures 
including explanation of material variations. 

 

REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

  Governance 
    

  

  Transparency 
    

  

G1 Council decisions made at 

meetings closed to the public 

14.73% 20.07% 14.80% 14.81% Eight confidential decisions 

were subsequently made 

public representing 22.22% 

of all confidential decisions 

made. 

  

  [Number of Council 

resolutions made at ordinary 

or special meetings of 

Council, or at meetings of a 

special committee consisting 

only of Councillors, closed to 

the public / Number of 

Council resolutions made at 

ordinary or special meetings 

of Council or at meetings of a 

special committee consisting 

only of Councillors ] x100 

    

  Consultation and 

engagement 

    
  

G2 Satisfaction with community 

consultation and 

engagement 

59.00 57.00 58.00 59.00 The index score of 59 in the 

2020 Community 

Satisfaction Survey 

conducted by JWS on behalf 

of Surf Coast Shire Council 
  Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

Council has performed on 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  

Service Performance Indicators Results  Comments 

 Service / indicator / measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 
 

community consultation and 

engagement  

 

 

 

 

was 1 point higher than in 

2019. 

  

  Attendance 
    

  

G3 Councillor attendance at 

council meetings 

81.48% 85.32% 72.92% 92.59% Council conducted 10 

ordinary meetings and 5 

special council meetings 

during 2019-20, one less 

meeting than during 2018-

19. The March 2020 Council 

meeting was cancelled due 

to the outbreak of COVID-

19. Due to the by-election in 

the Anglesea Ward one 

Councillor position was 

vacant for 3 meetings. 

Overall there was 100% 

councillor attendance at 10 

of the 15 Council meetings. 

  [The sum of the number of 

Councillors who attended 

each ordinary and special 

Council meeting / (Number of 

ordinary and special Council 

meetings) × (Number of 

Councillors elected at the last 

Council general election)] 

x100 

    

  Service cost 
    

  

G4 Cost of elected 

representation 

$44,888.45 $42,876.44 $42,941.50 $43,300.66 No comment provided as 

there is no material 

variation. 

  

  [Direct cost of the 

governance service / Number 

of Councillors elected at the 

last Council general election] 

    

  Satisfaction  
    

  

G5 Satisfaction with council 

decisions 

53.00 52.00 54.00 55.00 The index score of 55 in the 

2020 Community 

Satisfaction Survey 

conducted by JWS on behalf 

of Surf Coast Shire Council 

was 1 point higher than in 

2019. 

  

  [Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

council has performed in 

making decisions in the 

interest of the community] 
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Report of Operations 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Governance, management and other information 

Governance 

Surf Coast Shire Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) to provide leadership for the 
good governance of the municipal district and the local community.   

Together the councillors, as ‘Council’, form Surf Coast Shire’s governing body. This is a public statutory body 
constituted under the Act. As such, Council is recognised as a single entity and councillors only have authority to make 
decisions collectively as Council at formally constituted Council meetings.   

As a statutory body, Surf Coast Shire Council is one of 79 Victorian councils deriving its role, powers and functions 
primarily from the Act. The Act repeals sections of the Local Government Act 1989 over a 2 year period from its 
commencement in March 2020, however 1989 Act is not repealed and remains active unless inconsistent with, or 
repealed by, the new Act or other relevant legislation. It should be noted that the information collated in this report 
largely pre-dates the new Act, as is from the 2019-20 financial year.   

In accordance with section 8 of the Act, the role of a Council is to provide good governance in its municipal district for 
the benefit and wellbeing of the municipal community. In order to provide good governance, Council must adhere to the 
following principles:  

 Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in accordance with the relevant law;  

 Priority is to be given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future 
generations;  

 The economic, social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning 
for climate change risks, is to be promoted;  

 The municipal community is to be engaged in strategic planning and strategic decision making;  

 Innovation and continuous improvement is to be pursued;  

 Collaboration with other councils, governments and statutory bodies is to be sought;  

 The ongoing financial viability of the Council is to be ensured;  

 Regional, state and national plans and policies are to be taken into account in strategic planning and decision 
making;  

 The transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is to be ensured.   

Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms of democratic and corporate governance, as these principles 
are key to ensuring that Council and its administration meet the community’s priorities. The community has 
opportunities to provide input into Council’s decision-making processes including community consultation, and the 
ability to make relevant submissions to delegated committees of Council. Council’s formal decision-making processes 
are conducted through Council meetings and where delegated in accordance with the Act. This power may be 
delegated under sections 63-64 of the Act to delegated committees, and under section 11 of the Act to the Chief 
Executive Officer, through Instruments of Delegation. The Chief Executive Officer may delegate these powers to 
members of Council staff and members of community asset committees in accordance with section 47 of the Act.  
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Attendance at meetings of Council and councillor briefing sessions 

Table 12 Councillor meeting attendance 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 

 

  Ordinary Council 
Meetings 

Special 
Council 

Meetings 

Hearing of 
Submissions 
Committee 
Meetings 

Councillor 
Briefings and 
Assembly of 
Councillors 

Total meetings held (FY) 10 5 9 75 

Cr David Bell 10 4 6 70 

Cr Martin Duke 10 5 9 70 

Cr Clive Goldsworthy 9 5 8 65 

#4 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

#4 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

Cr Rose Hodge 10 5 8 71 

Cr James McIntyre 8 4 6 47 

#5 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

#5 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

#1 - Not appointed for 1 

#5 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

Cr Brian McKiterick  10 4 7 52 

Cr Tony Revell 8 4 7 59 

#2 - Not appointed for 2 #2 - Not appointed 

for 1 

#2 - Not appointed for 2 #2 - Not appointed for 

13 

Cr Margot Smith 9 5 9 68 

Cr Heather Wellington 10 5 8 25 

#3 Approved leave of 

absence for 1 

#1 - Cr James McIntyre was appointed as a Councillor on 2 July 2019. 

#2 - Cr Tony Revell was appointed as a Councillor on 6 September 2019. 

#3 - At the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 10 December 2019, Council resolved to grant Cr Heather Wellington a 

leave of absence from Council for the period of 18 December 2019 to 12 January 2020 inclusive. 

#4 - At the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 21 January 2020, Council resolved to grant Cr Clive Goldsworthy a leave 

of absence from Council for the period of 11 February 2020 to 7 March 2020 inclusive. 

#5 - At the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25 February 2020, Council resolved to grant Cr James McIntyre a leave of 

absence from Council for the period of 20 February 2020 to 16 March 2020 inclusive. 

#6 - In accordance with Requirement One of the Minister’s Good Practice Guideline, each Councillor must be seen and 

heard in order to be an active member of the meeting. Cr James McIntyre did not have video enabled but could hear and 

see the meeting.  
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Committees of Council 

The Act allows councils to establish one or more committees of Council consisting of: 

 councillors 

 Council staff 

 other persons 

 any combination of the above 

The below is a list of committees established by Council that operated in 2018-19. 

Advisory Committees 

 All Abilities Advisory Committee 

 Audit and Risk Committee 

 Bells Beach Committee 

 Chief Executive Officer Performance Review Committee 

 Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee 

Section 86 Committees 

 Anderson Roadknight Reserve Committee of Management 

 Anglesea Bike Park Committee of Management 

 Connewarre Reserve and Hall Committee on Management 

 Deans Marsh Community Hall and Memorial Reserve Committee of Management 

 Eastern Reserve Committee of Management 

 Globe Theatre Committee of Management 

 Hearing of Submissions Committee 

 Modewarre Hall and Reserve Committee of Management 

 Stribling Reserve Committee of Management  

Council representation on committees and peak bodies 

Councillors are assigned to represent Council on formal committees, community groups, external working parties and 
peak bodies. They also participate in a range of community activities and regularly engage with the community, which 
helps to inform Council decisions and actions.  

Councillor assignments for 2019-20 were as shown in Table 15. 

Table 15: Councillor assignments 2019-20 

 

Committee/peak body 2019 Delegates  2020 Delegates 

Advisory Committee Representation   

All Abilities Advisory Committee  Cr Hodge Cr Hodge 

Audit and Risk Committee Cr Goldsworthy 

Cr McGregor #2 

Cr McKiterick#3 

Cr Goldsworthy 

Cr Duke 

 

Bells Beach Committee  Cr Bell 

Cr Duke 

Cr Bell 

Cr Duke 
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Committee/peak body 2019 Delegates  2020 Delegates 

Chief Executive Officer Employment Matters 
Committee 

All Councillors All Councillors 

Hearing of Submissions Committee All Councillors All Councillors 

Municipal Emergency Management Planning 
Committee 

Cr Duke  

Cr McKiterick (Sub) 

Cr Duke  

Cr Revell (Sub) 

Positive Ageing Advisory Committee Cr Smith 

Cr Duke (Sub) 

Cr Smith 

 

Other Organisations/Committees   

Anglesea Community Impact Advisory (CIAC) 
Cr Smith 

Vacant (Sub) 

Cr Revell 

Cr Smith (Sub) 

Hinterland Community Impact Advisory Committee 
(CIAC) 

Vacant 

Cr Goldsworthy (Sub) 

Cr McIntyre 

Cr Goldsworthy (Sub) 

Lorne Community Impact Advisory Committee 
(CIAC) 

Cr Goldsworthy Cr Goldsworthy 

Torquay Community Impact Advisory Committee 
(CIAC) 

Cr Duke 

Cr McKiterick (Sub) 

Cr Duke 

Cr Bell (Sub) 

Australian Local Government Association (ALGA) Cr Hodge (Mayor) Cr Hodge (Mayor) 

Barwon South West Waste and Resource Recovery 
Group  

Cr Bell Cr Bell 

Geelong Heritage Centre Collection Advisory 
Committee 

Cr Smith Cr Smith 

Cr Revell (Sub) 

Geelong Regional Library Corporation (GRLC) Cr Smith Cr Smith 

Cr Revell (Sub) 

Great Ocean Road Regional Tourism Inc. (GORRT) CEO CEO 

G21 Geelong Region Alliance Ltd - Board of 
Directors 

Cr Hodge (Mayor) Cr Hodge (Mayor) 

Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV) Cr McKiterick 

Cr Duke (Sub) 

Cr McKiterick 

Cr Duke (Sub) 

Rural and Peri-Urban Advisory Committee (COGG) Cr Bell 

Vacant (Sub) 

Cr Bell 

Cr McIntyre (Sub) 

25% by 2020 Renewable Energy Task Force Cr Duke 

Cr Smith 

Vacant 

Cr Duke 

Cr Smith 

Cr Revell 

Victorian Local Governance Association (VLGA) Not required by Council  

G21 Pillars 

G21 Arts and Culture Pillar Cr Smith Cr Smith 
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Committee/peak body 2019 Delegates  2020 Delegates 

G21 Economic Development Pillar 
Coordinator Business & 
Tourism 

Coordinator Business & 
Tourism 

G21 Education and Training Pillar 
Cr McGregor #2 

Cr Hodge #3 

Manager Community 
Strengthening 

G21 Environment Pillar 
Cr Bell Cr Bell 

Cr Duke (Sub) 

G21 Health and Wellbeing Pillar 

Manager Community 
Strengthening  

Cr Revell  

Manager Community 
Strengthening 

G21 Planning and Services Pillar Cr Bell Cr Bell 

G21 Sport and Recreation Pillar 
Cr Hodge 

Cr McKiterick (Sub) 

Cr McIntyre 

Cr Hodge (Sub) 

G21 Transport Pillar Cr Duke Cr Duke 

Notes: 

#1 Cr Coker resigned effective 27 May 2019 

#2 Cr McGregor resigned effective 12 June 2019 

#3 Various nominations and appointments to replace Cr Coker and Cr McGregor at the June 2019 Council Meeting 

Code of conduct 

The Act requires councils to develop and approve a Councillor Code of Conduct within 12 months after each general 
election. On 24 January 2017, Council adopted a revised Councillor Code of Conduct which is designed to: 

 assist councillors to maintain the highest standards of conduct and behaviour as well as provide a means to 
deal with problems they may encounter 

 attract the highest level of confidence from Council’s stakeholders 

 assist the mayor and councillors to discharge the responsibilities of their public office appropriately 

 provide an avenue of complaint about Councillor behaviour 

In addition to setting out the Councillor Conduct Principles, the Code also outlines: 

 Other conduct definitions under the Act, such as those relating to misuse of position, improper direction, 
breach of confidentiality and conflict of interest. 

 Roles and relationships. 

 Dispute resolution procedures. 

 

Conflict of interest 

Councillors are elected by the residents and ratepayers to act in the best interests of the community. This is a 
position of trust that requires councillors to act in the public interest. When a council delegates its powers to a council 
officer or a committee, the committee or officer also needs to act in the public interest.  

A conflict of interest occurs when a personal or private interest might compromise the ability to act in the public 
interest. A conflict of interest exists even if no improper act results from it.  

Council has a comprehensive procedure in place to accommodate the disclosure of conflicts of interest. Declaration 
of a conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for all Council and Committee meetings.  
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While the procedures vary depending on the particular role and circumstances, in general they involve disclosing the 
relevant interests in a specific way and then stepping aside from the relevant decision-making process or from the 
exercise of the public duty. A register is maintained to record all disclosed conflict of interests.  

Councillor allowances 

In accordance with Section 74 of the Local Government Act 1989, councillors are entitled to receive an allowance 
while performing their duty as a councillor. The mayor is also entitled to receive a higher allowance. 

The Victorian Government sets the upper and lower limits for all allowances paid to councillors and Mayors. Councils 
are divided into three categories based on the income and population of each council. In this instance Surf Coast 
Shire Council is recognised as a category two council. 

Councils are required to review allowance levels by 30 June in the year following a general election and the 
allowance level determined remains in effect for the full term of the Council. 

Allowance levels are subject to annual automatic adjustments that are announced in the Victorian Government 
Gazette by the Minister for Local Government. A council can only undertake a further review of its allowance level 
during its term if: 

 the limits set by the Government for any of the categories are changed; 

 a council's category status was changed after an annual assessment found extraordinary movements in its 
population and revenue figures; or 

 a council makes a successful submission to a Local Government Panel to have its category changed on the 
basis of an exceptional circumstances case. 

 

Councillor expenses 

In accordance with Section 75 of the Act, Council is required to reimburse a councillor for expenses incurred while 
performing their duties as a councillor. Council is also required to adopt and maintain a policy in relation to the 
reimbursement of expenses for councillors. The policy provides guidance for the reimbursements of expenses and 
the provision of resources, facilities and other support to the mayor and councillors to enable them to discharge their 
duties.  

During the reporting period Council continued with quarterly reporting of councillor expenses at ordinary Council 
meetings and has developed a page on its website to view this information. 

Council’s Annual Report also includes details of expenses paid by Council, including reimbursement of expenses for 
each councillor and member of a Council committee.  

The details of the allowances and expenses including reimbursement of expenses for each councillor paid by the 
Council for the 2019-20 year are set out in Table 16. 
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Table 16: Councillor Payment Summary - 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020  
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Management 

Council has implemented a number of statutory and better practice items to strengthen its management framework. 
Having strong governance and management frameworks leads to better decision making by Council. The Act 
requires Council to undertake an assessment against the prescribed governance and management checklist and 
include this in its report of operations. Council’s Governance and Management Checklist results are set out in the 
section below. The following items have been highlighted as important components of the management framework. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

As a formally appointed advisory committee, the Audit and Risk Committee reports to Council and provides 
appropriate advice and recommendations relevant to its Charter. This enables Council to: 

1. Display well-informed, efficient and effective decision-making. 
2. Promote and monitor an ethical culture, and comply with any relevant code of conduct. 
3. Implement a sound system of risk oversight and management. 
4. Implement an effective and efficient internal control system. 
5. Protect Council’s assets. 
6. Protect against litigation and claims. 
7. Protect against fraud. 
8. Comply with applicable legislation, regulations, standards and policies. 
9. Demonstrate quality internal and external reporting. 
10. Display effective communications between Council and the internal and external auditors, and provide 

timely responses to matters arising from audits. 

The Committee considers and promotes multiple complex and strategically important corporate matters on a quarterly 
basis.  

Key areas discussed by the Committee over the course of this year included compliance and controls, risk 
management (including a framework in which to measure and track mitigation), digital transformation strategy, 
internal audit reports, policy reviews, and financial, management and performance reporting.  

Internal audit 

Council’s internal audit function provides independent and objective assurance that appropriate processes and 
controls are in place across Council. A risk based three-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan (SIAP) is revised annually 
to ensure the audit resources remain focused on the appropriate areas. The review process considers Council’s risk 
framework, the Council Plan, the impact of any change on operations, systems or the business environment, prior 
audit coverage, outcomes and management input. The SIAP is reviewed and approved by the Audit and Risk 
Committee annually.  

Council’s internal auditors, NTT Pty Ltd, attend each Audit and Risk Committee meeting to report on the status of the 
SIAP and to provide an update on the implementation of audit recommendations and findings of completed reviews. 
All audit issues identified are risk rated. Recommendations are assigned to the responsible officer and progress is 
tracked through an Outstanding Issues and Actions report that is provided to the Audit Committee at each meeting. 
Quality assurance is measured through satisfaction surveys for each review and the annual Audit Committee self-
assessment. 

The SIAP for 2019-20 was completed with the following reviews being conducted: 

 Governance Review 

 Waste Management 

 Depot Management  

 Digital Transformation  

 Procure to Pay 

 Follow up Audit for the previous financial year. 
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External audit 
Council is externally audited by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office. For the 2019-20 year the annual external audit 
of Council’s Financial Statements and Performance Statement was conducted by the Victorian Auditor-General’s 
representative. The external auditors provide written and verbal updates to the Audit and Risk Committee relating to 
the annual audit plan, audit reports and other matters of note. The external audit management letter and responses 
are also provided to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Risk management 

Council has adopted a Risk Management Framework and Policy in line AS/NZS 31000 guidelines. The Risk 
Management Framework and Policy address items such as: 

 risk management culture and branding 

 communication and training 

 best practice in risk management 

 responsibilities of and to internal and external stakeholders 

 risk registers and risk management software  

 the Council planning cycle, budget cycle and annual audit cycle 

Managing risk 

The management of risk is an integral part of the organisation’s strategic management and planning. Our approach to 
risk is supported by a robust framework, risk register and associated processes based on the international standard 
for risk management, AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018. 

Key achievements during 2019-20 included: 

 A comprehensive review of Council’s strategic and emerging risks was completed in 2019 with a follow up 
review scheduled for later in 2020.   

 A business continuity exercise comprising how Council’s Pandemic Plan would be enacted was undertaken 
with the Leadership Group in March, 2020, to check that arrangements outlined will support the continued 
provision of essential services and operational activities if an interruption event occurs. 
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Governance and management checklist 

The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and 
management checklist. 

 

Governance and Management Items Assessment 

1. Community engagement policy (Policy 
outlining Council’s commitment to engaging with 
the community on matters of public interest)  

Policy 

Date of operation of current policy:  

26 September 2017 

 

2. Community engagement guidelines 
(Guidelines to assist staff to determine when and 
how to engage with the community)  

Guidelines 

Date of operation of current guidelines:  

27 August 2018 

 

3. Strategic Resource Plan (Plan under Section 
126 of the Local Government Act 1989 outlining 
the financial and non-financial resources required 
for at least the next four financial years)  

Adopted in accordance with Section 126 of the 
Act 

Date of adoption:  23 June 2020 

 

4. Annual budget (Plan under Section 130 of the 
Local Government Act 1989 setting out the 
services to be provided and initiatives to be 
undertaken over the next 12 months, and the 
funding and other resources required)  

Adopted in accordance with Section 130 of the 
Act 

Date of adoption: 23 June 2020 

 

5. Asset management plans (Plans that set out the 
asset maintenance and renewal needs for key 
infrastructure asset classes for at least the next 
10 years)  

Plans 

Dates of operation of current plans:  

Roads - 29 April 2010 
Drainage - 10 July 2006 
Parks - 23 May 2006 
Fleet - 6 July 2006 

Building - 2 February 2006 

Waste - 22 October 2012 

 

6. Rating strategy (Strategy setting out the rating 
structure of Council to levy rates and charges) 

Strategy 

Date of operation of current strategy: 

25 June 2019 

 

7. Risk policy (Policy outlining Council’s 
commitment and approach to minimising the risks 
to Council’s operations) 

Policy 

Date of operation of current policy: 

23 October 2018 

 

8. Fraud policy (Policy outlining Council’s 
commitment and approach to minimising the risk 
of fraud)  

Policy 

Date of operation of current policy: 

26 February 2019 

 

9. Municipal emergency management plan (Plan 
under Section 20 of the Emergency Management 
Act 1986 for emergency prevention, response 
and recovery)  

Prepared and maintained in accordance with 
Section 20 of the Act 

Date of preparation: 24 January 2017 
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10. Procurement policy (policy under Section 186A 
of the Local Government Act 1989 outlining the 
matters, practices and procedures that will apply 
to all purchases of goods, services and works)  

Prepared and approved in accordance with 
Section 186A of the Act 

Date of approval: 26 May 2020 

 

11. Business continuity plan (Plan setting out the 
actions that will be undertaken to ensure that key 
services continue to operate in the event of a 
disaster)  

Plan 

Date of operation of current plan: 

5 March 2020 

 

12. Disaster recovery plan (Plan setting out the 
actions that will be undertaken to recover and 
restore business capability in the event of a 
disaster) 

Plan 

Date of operation of current plan: 

1 October 2018 

 

13. Risk management framework (Framework 
outlining Council’s approach to managing risks to 
Council’s operations) 

Framework 

Date of operation of current framework:  

31 May 2017 

 

14. Audit and Risk Committee (Advisory committee 
of Council under Section 139 of the Local 
Government Act 1989 whose role is to oversee 
the integrity of Council’s financial reporting, 
processes to manage risks to Council’s 
operations and for compliance with applicable 
legal, ethical and regulatory requirements)  

Established in accordance with Section 139 
of the Act 

Date of establishment: 

11 December 2018 

 

15. Internal audit (Independent accounting 
professionals engaged by Council to provide 
analyses and recommendations aimed at 
improving Council’s governance, risk and 
management controls)  

Engaged 

Date of engagement of current provider: 

23 April 2018 

 

16. Performance reporting framework (A set of 
indicators measuring financial and non-financial 
performance, including the performance 
indicators referred to in Section 131 of the Local 
Government Act 1989)  

Framework 

Date of operation of current framework: 

1 July 2014 

 

17. Council Plan reporting (Report reviewing the 
performance of the Council against the Council 
Plan, including the results in relation to the 
strategic indicators, for the first six months of the 
financial year)  

Report 

Reporting dates: 25 February 2020 

 

18. Financial reporting (Quarterly statements to 
Council under Section 138 of the Local 
Government Act 1989 comparing budgeted 
revenue and expenditure with actual revenue and 
expenditure) 

Statements presented to Council in 
accordance with Section 138(1) of the Act 

Statement presentation dates: 

12 September 2019 

22 October 2019 

21 January 2020 

28 April 2020 
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19. Risk reporting (Six-monthly reports of strategic 
risks to Council’s operations, their likelihood and 
consequences of occurring, and risk minimisation 
strategies)  

Reports 

Report dates: 

10 December 2019 

23 June 2020 

 

20. Performance reporting (Six-monthly reports of 
indicators measuring the results against financial 
and non-financial performance, including 
performance indicators referred to in Section 131 
of the Local Government Act 1989) 

Reports 

Report dates:  

22 October 2019 

25 February 2020 

 

21. Annual report (Annual report to the community, 
under Sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Local 
Government Act 1989, containing a report of 
operations and audited financial and performance 
statements) 

Considered at a meeting of Council in 
accordance with Section 134 of the Act 

Date of consideration: 22 October 2019 

 

22. Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under 
Section 76C of the Local Government Act 1989 
setting out the conduct principles and the dispute 
resolution processes to be followed by 
councillors)  

Reviewed in accordance with Section 76C of 
the Act 

Date reviewed: 24 January 2017 

 

23. Delegations (A document setting out the powers, 
duties and functions of Council and the Chief 
Executive Officer that have been delegated to 
members of staff)  

Reviewed in accordance with Section 98(6) 
of the Act 

Date of review:  

Instruments of Delegation Adopted by 
Council: 

 S5 Council to CEO 23/05/2017 
 S6 Council to staff 23/04/2019 
 C4 Council to Hearing of Submissions  

Committee 26/04/2017 
 C4 Council to Deans Marsh Community 

Hall and Memorial Reserve Committee 
of Management 24/07/2018 

 C4 Council to Stribling Reserve 
Committee of Management 26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Modewarre Hall and 
Reserve Committee of Management 
26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Globe Theatre Committee 
of Management 26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Eastern Reserve 
Committee of Management 26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Connewarre Reserve 
Committee of Management 26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Anglesea Bike Park 
Committee of Management 26/09/2017 

 C4 Council to Anderson Roadknight 
Reserve Committee of Management 
26/09/2017 
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Instruments of Delegation reviewed and 
signed by the CEO: 

 S7 CEO to staff 6/12/2019 
 S7a CEO to staff – Children’s Services 

26/03/2019 
 S7b CEO to staff - Disability Services 

26/03/2019 
 S12 Municipal Building Surveyor 

2/03/2020 
 S13 CEO to staff 26/03/2019 
 S13a CEO to staff - Disability Services 

26/03/2019 
 S13b CEO to staff - Disability Services 

26/03/2019 
 S14 CEO to staff - VicSmart Applications 

26/03/2019 

24. Meeting procedures (A local law governing the 
conduct of meetings of Council and special 
committees)  

Meeting procedures local law made in 
accordance with Section 91(1) of the Act  

Date local law made: 28 May 2019 

 

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management arrangements. 

 
Anne Howard 
Acting Chief Executive Officer 
Dated:  September 2020 

 
Cr Rose Hodge 
Mayor 
Dated:  September 2020 
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Performance Statement 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

Description of municipality 

Surf Coast Shire is located in south-western Victoria, 120km from Melbourne, 21km south of Geelong and covers 1,560 
square kilometres. 

Its proximity to the Princes Highway and Geelong Ring Road provides convenient road access to enhance the shire’s 
appeal as a lifestyle, holiday, tourist and business destination. 

Residents enjoy a high-quality lifestyle combining coastal, bushland and rural elements across nine distinct townships: 
Aireys Inlet, Anglesea, Deans Marsh, Fairhaven, Jan Juc, Lorne, Moriac, Torquay and Winchelsea. 

Surf Coast Shire has been recognised as one of Victoria’s fastest growing municipalities for more than a decade. The 
combination of lifestyle and proximity to Melbourne has seen the permanent population grow from 20,872 in 2001 to an 
estimated 33,456 in 2019. 

Surf Coast Shire’s economy continued to experience strong growth during the first half of the 2019-20 financial year with 
the top employment sectors including tourism, the surfing industry, accommodation and food services, and construction 
and retail trade, with an average unemployment rate of 1.9% as at December 2019. The Covid-19 Pandemic has seen a 
significant impact on these industries since March 2020 and will continue to provide challenges into 2021. Data is not yet 
available to determine the full extent of the impact on the local economy. 

In April 2020 Council allocated $2.168 million to its Covid-19 response package. The response package includes support 
for local businesses and community groups, and a new Covid-19 hardship policy for ratepayers. The outbreak of COVID-
19 has impacted the delivery of some services during the year including health inspections at aquatic facilities and the 
provision of library and maternal and child health services. It also provided an opportunity to introduce new technology 
and programs to support the community such as live streaming of Council meeting and the COVID Community Support 
Team. 

The demands on Council to deliver essential infrastructure and community services will continue to increase in line with 
the needs of Surf Coast Shire’s rapidly growing, changing community. 
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Definitions 

"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than: 

(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 

(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and 

(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to 
above “infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land 

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004 
"population" means the resident population estimated by council 

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants) 

"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant financial 
year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA 

"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website 

   "unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.   
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Other Information 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

1. Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance 
statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial 
performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of 
material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent 
with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from council 
information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial 
performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. The Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the 
results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each 
indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality thresholds 
unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in its strategic resource 
plan on 23 June 2020 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates 
based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving 
sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General 
Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can be obtained by contacting council.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Surf Coast Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Surf Coast Shire 
Council (the council) which comprises the:  

 description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 other information and 
 certification of the performance statement. 

In my opinion, the performance statement presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the performance of the council for the year ended 30 June 2020 in 
accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further 
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the performance statement section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff 
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the performance statement in Victoria and have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities for the 
performance 
statement  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control 
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the 
performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance 
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance 
statement.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance 
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether 
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 
 

  

MELBOURNE 
24 September 2020 

Sanchu Chummar 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Statutory information 

The following information is provided in accordance with legislative and other requirements 

applying to Council. 

Documents available for public inspection 

Following is a summary of the documents available for public inspection, in accordance with Section 12 of the 
Local Government (General) Regulations 2015 and Section 325 of the Local Government Act 2020. Inspection 
of these documents can be arranged by contacting the Coordinator Governance on (03) 5261 0600.  

A Council must make available for public inspection documents containing the following prescribed matters:  

a) A document containing details of overseas or interstate travel (other than interstate travel by land for 
less than three days) undertaken in an official capacity by any councillor or member of staff in the 
previous 12 months, including:  
(i) the name of the councillor or member of staff;  
(ii) the dates on which the travel began and ended;  
(iii) the destination of the travel;  
(iv) the purpose of the travel; and  
(v) the total cost of the travel, including accommodation costs. 

b) The agendas for, and minutes of, ordinary and special meetings held in the previous 12 months, which 
are kept under Section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas and minutes relating to a part of a 
meeting which was closed to members of the public under Section 89 of the Act and are confidential 
information within the meaning of Section 77(2) of the Act. 

c) The minutes of meetings of special committees established under Section 86 of the Act and held in the 
previous 12 months, other than those minutes relating to a part of a meeting which was closed to 
members of the public under Section 89 of the Act and are confidential information within the meaning 
of Section 77(2) of the Act. 

a) A register of delegations kept under Sections 87(1) and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on which the 
last review took place under Sections 86(6) and 98(6), respectively, of the Act. 

b) A document containing details of all leases involving land, which were entered into by the Council as 
lessor, including the lessee and the terms and the value of the lease. 

c) A register maintained under Section 224(1A) of the Act of authorised officers appointed under that 
section. 

d) A list of donations and grants made by the Council in the previous 12 months, including the names of 
persons who, or bodies which, have received a donation or grant and the amount of each donation or 
grant. 

More information, is available at the documents available for public inspection page on Council’s website at 
www.surfcoast.vic.gov.au 

Publications 

In addition to the statutory documents that Council must make available for public inspection, Council also 
publishes a range of other documents on the website including budgets, reports, strategies, plans and policies. 
These are available to view or download from the website and can be made available in hardcopy on request. 
Fees may be applicable for inspecting and making copies of certain documents. 

More information, is available at the policies, plans, strategies and reports page on Councils website at: 
www.surfcoast.vic.gov.au 
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Council also regularly invites community input during the development of various plans and strategies. These 
opportunities are advertised on the website and in local newspapers. 

Best Value Principles 

In accordance with Section 208B(f) of the Local Government Act 1989, the organisation must report, at least 
once every year, on what has been done to realise best value principles. 

Our regular business planning and performance processes encompass best value principles and continuous 
improvement. Council’s efforts in business improvement and service efficiency are led by both the Business 
Improvement and Digital Transformation departments, which during 2019-20 have consolidated and built on our 
best value approach. 

Contacts Valued at $100,000 or more 

In accordance with section 131(3)(a)(v) of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act), the Annual report, report of 
operations must contain any information required by the regulations.  

Regulation 14 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014, lists the following additional 
requirements: 

(ca) a list of contracts entered into by Council valued at $100,000 (or such higher amount fixed in 
accordance with section 186(1) of the Act) or more of a kind specified in section 186(5)(a) and (c) of 
the Act; 

(cb) a list of contracts entered into by Council valued at $100,000 (or such higher amount fixed in 
accordance with section 186(1) of the Act) or more if the Council did not engage in a competitive 
process before entering into the contact and it is not of a kind specified in section 18 (5) or (5A) of 
the Act. 

Contracts - Local Government Act Section 186  

Contracts entered into with a value of $150,000 or more for goods or services of $200,000 or more for works 
without engaging in a competitive process: 

Contractor Type of Contract Comment/Reason  

Direct Recruitment Temporary staff New contract and system now implemented 
which will bring Council into compliance  for the 
next financial year.  

Civica Pty Ltd Integrated IT system Legacy system, updates and maintenance 
therefore ‘sole source’ arrangement 

 

Continuous improvement and Best Value Principles 

We continue to pursue improvement as a core part of how we go about our business on a day-to-day basis and 
in our operational and strategic planning.  

While continuous improvement in local government is mandated in the Best Value Principles contained in the 
Victorian Local Government Act 1989, we also recognise it as fundamental to improving community outcomes. 

We work hard at creating a workplace culture where employees are constantly thinking about how things can be 
done better and are encouraged to suggest opportunities for improvement. 

Although continuous improvement is a collective organisational responsibility, the Business Improvement 
department along with the Digital Transformation program, have led Council’s efforts in this area. 

The Digital Transformation program is a multi-year funded program aimed at implementing technology solutions 
and improving work processes to achieve the following goals, closely linked to continuous improvement and 
best value: 
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 Improve our customer experiences and meet their expectations 

 Build our capability and provide staff with the tools they need to do their best 

 Ensure financial viability into the future. 

The Business Improvement team was developed to prepare for revenue challenges, such as rate capping, and 
aims to deliver organisation-wide service efficiencies by setting and pursuing targeted benefits, which will 
contribute to our long-term financial plan.  

With a strong focus on financial gains, including reducing costs and increasing non-rate revenue, the Business 
Improvement program is underpinned by the principles shown in Table 17. 

The Council Plan 2017-21 commits the organisation to an ongoing service review program to support 
continuous improvement in delivering the highest quality, best value services that the community needs.  

Table 17: Business Improvement program guiding principles 

 

Principle Intention 

Governance Clarifies approval and delivery mechanisms, reporting arrangements and key outcomes. 

Community Highlights how we will communicate with our community. 

Value Focuses on creating value through the program’s delivery, including how business improvement 
opportunities are identified and prioritised. 

Collaboration Focuses on working with partners, staff and other providers. 

Transparency Highlights transparent governance processes and open communication in developing and delivering 
the program, and reporting our progress. 

 

In 2019-20, the team achieved $600,164 in recurrent operational savings through the completion of the 
endorsed Business Improvement program and identified Business Case projects. These saving have been 
incorporated in the 2020-21 operating budget. 

This program, endorsed annually by Council, will continue to strive to deliver organisational efficiencies that Council can 

depend on to ensure long-term financial sustainability. 

 

Carers recognition 

The Carers Recognition Act 2012 was developed to formally recognise, promote and value the role of carers. It 
provides a legislative framework and principles to support organisations in better understanding and responding 
to their responsibilities in relation to employees and clients in care relationships. 

In recognising our responsibilities under the Act, we have implemented a range of measures to ensure:  

 employees, clients and others in care relationships have an awareness and understanding of care 
relationship principles; and  

 services and care plans are developed and delivered to reflect these principles. 

During 2019-20, we provided a range of services and supports to strengthen the capacity of carers to maintain a 
care role and caring relationships This included: 

 The Assessment process requires the active input of both the client and their carer, and recognises 
carers as individuals with their own wishes, needs and circumstances. 

 Care planning considers the availability and capacity of the carer within their caring role when planning 
and prioritising a range of services to support people to remain living at home. 

 Service provision supports care relationships by allowing carers to take a break from their usual caring 
responsibilities, thus enabling them to participate in community, social and other activities. 

 Ongoing monitoring and review of individual situations and care relationships facilitates referrals to the 
other carer specific programs outside of our funded services. 
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 Café style support is a model of service delivery that offers social support to a person and their carer at 
the same time, in the same place, in a community setting such as a café or a community venue. 

Relevant carer information and advice is provided on an ad hoc basis during communication with individuals, or 
more formally through newsletters, pamphlets and presentations at events and activities. 

Child Safe Standards 

Child Safe Standards are intended to improve the way organisations prevent and respond to child abuse, by 
embedding the protection of children into everyday thinking and practice.  

As a Category 1 organisation, Council continued to work on this key issue. The key focus during 2019-20 has 
been to: 

 Review  and revise the Child Safe Organisation Management Policy to align with the National Principles 
for Child Safe Organisations  

  Revise and implement the Working with Children Check and Criminal History Check procedure 

 Development of a revised Child Safe  reporting process and revised Child Safe Standards fact sheet 

 Rolled out training (either online or face to face) for all staff and some volunteers 

 Update procedures and documents where external organisations or individuals provide a service on 
behalf of Council or in a Council facility or receive a Council grant to ensure third parties are aware of 
Council’s commitment to child safety. 

 Ensure recruitment processes embed child safety is at the forefront of recruiting officers minds 

Present regular updates on child safety to the Leadership group and business units. 

Disability Act 2006 

The Victorian Disability Act 2006 aims to reaffirm and strengthen the rights and responsibilities of people with 
disability, which includes recognising the role that government and community support plays in achieving this.  

Under the Act, local councils and other public sector bodies are required to develop their own disability action 
plans, which set out how they will: 

 remove barriers faced by people with disability in accessing goods, services and facilities; 
 remove barriers faced by people with disability in obtaining and maintaining employment; 
 promote the inclusion and participation in the community of people with disability; and 
 achieve changes in attitudes and practices, which discriminate against people with disability. 

Surf Coast Shire Council is committed to access and inclusion for all people and to build healthy, well connected 
communities where everyone can participate. These outcomes are reflected in our Council Plan: 2017-20 and 
throughout our Accessible and Inclusive Surf Coast Shire: Strategic Plan 2014-24.  

During 2019-20, in addition to progressing actions from our ongoing Disability Action Plan, Council sought to 
ensure our Covid19 emergency response and recovery was inclusive of people with disability and prioritised 
their needs given they are one of the most vulnerable groups in our community.  

The past year marked a number of achievements including:  

 Two adult Changing Places officially opened in Anglesea and Winchelsea for people with high support 
needs.  

 Applied Universal Design principles in planning and delivering projects such as Stribling Reserve 
Pavilions Redevelopment, Mt Moriac Equestrian Pavilion and Winchelsea Kinder Upgrade.   

 Continued to work with the All Abilities Advisory Committee to provide advice on Council projects and 
policy including strong collaboration in two submissions to the National Transport Commission on 
barriers to the safe use of Personalised Mobility Devices and Motorised Mobility Devices. 
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 Delivered a community event and communications campaign for International Day of People with a 
Disability featuring disability advocate Jax Jacki Brown and a performance by the local all abilities music 
group The Rockheads. 

Developed a short-term Covid19 Disability Action Plan for May – December 2020, to guide the work of Council 
in responding to the needs of people with disability during the pandemic. 

Domestic Animals Act 1994 

According to the Domestic Animals Act 1994, Council is required to prepare a Domestic Animal Management 
Plan (DAMP) at four yearly intervals and evaluate its implementation in the annual report.  

In 2018-19 Council continued to maintain a high standard of animal management according to legislative 
requirements and worked to deliver the objectives of the 2017 – 21 plan by: 

 ensuring Animal Management Officers (AMOs) were appropriately trained in all aspects of responsible 
animal management;  

 encouraging responsible dog and cat ownership and registration of domestic animals 
 reducing public and environmental nuisance caused by dogs and cats resulting in a reduction in animal 

management requests 
 promoting the effective management of dogs and cats through community engagement activities and 

the identification of dangerous or menacing dogs and restricted breeds, and 
 minimising the risk of attacks by dogs on people and animals through increased reporting. 

Council adopted the current Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017–21 in April 2017 following an extensive 
community engagement process. 

Developed according to the requirements and responsibilities of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 (Section 68A), 
Surf Coast Shire Council Community Amenity Local Law No. 1 of 2011 and other relevant policies, it outlines a 
range of domestic animal management strategies, actions and recommendations. These aim to balance animal 
management and community interests, while providing scope to accommodate new requirements. The need to 
address animal safety and wellbeing during a disaster is covered by the plan’s Disaster Planning for Pets within 
Surf Coast Shire section. 

Important issues identified during the consultation period and identified in the plan include: 

 dog behaviour 

 threats to wildlife and stock 

 dog litter 

 responsible pet ownership 

 enforcement 

 population growth of permanent domestic animals in the shire 

 holiday home owners travelling with pets 

 proximity of Geelong’s Armstrong Creek growth area 

The 2017-21 plan explains how people, dogs and cats in the Surf Coast Shire can live together in safety and 
harmony, and outlines how Council will: 

 promote responsible pet ownership 

 respond to its obligations under the Domestic Animal Act, and protect the community and environment. 

Equal Opportunity Act 2010 
 In keeping with our legislative requirements under the Equal Opportunity Act 2010, we have an Equal 

Employment Opportunity Program in place to eliminate discrimination and promote equal opportunity in 
relation to employment matters. 
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 The program focuses on ensuring fair, equitable and non-discriminatory consideration is given to all job 
applicants and employees regardless of race, colour, sex, marital status, parenthood, physical and 
mental impairment, age, religious or political affiliation, gender identity and sexual orientation. This 
includes providing a workplace free from bullying and harassment.  

Information about the program’s outcomes during 2019-20 is addressed in this section under ‘Workplace 
Diversity’ in Council Staff. 

Food Act Ministerial directions 
In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required to publish a summary of any Ministerial 
Directions received during the financial year in its annual report. No such Ministerial Directions were received by 
Council during the financial year. 

Freedom of information 

In accordance with section 7(4AA)(a) and 7(4AA)(b) of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (the Act), Council is 
required to publish certain statements in its Annual Report or separately, such as on its website, concerning its 
functions and information available.  

Council provides the following summary of the application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 
1982.  

The objectives of the Act are to: 

 extend as far as possible the right of the community to access information, noting that access may be 
limited by exemptions, e.g. to protect essential public interests and private and business affairs; 

 ensure public bodies publish information concerning the documents they hold; 

 provide an opportunity for people to request  inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading 
information in their personal records to be amended; 

 provide an opportunity for people to appeal against a decision that does not grant access to the 
information or amendment of a personal record. 

Access to documents may be obtained as detailed in section 17 of the Act as follows, by application, which 
should: 

 be in writing; 

 identify as clearly as possible the document being requested; 

 be accompanied by the appropriate application fee, although the fee may be waived under certain 
circumstances. 

The application fee is currently $29.60. Access charges may also apply once documents have been processed 
and a decision is made (e.g. photocopying).  

More information, including an application form, is available on the Freedom of Information page on Council’s 
website at https://www.surfcoast.vic.gov.au    

Principal Officer: Keith Baille CEO  

Table 18: Freedom of information requests and outcomes 2019-20 

 

Requests received 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Personal requests 6 14 4 0 0 0 

Non-personal requests 4 2 5 19 19 21 

Total requests 10 16 9 19 19 21 

Requests transferred from another 
agency 

0 0 0 0 0 1 
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Request outcomes       

Access granted in full 3 0 2 3 2 2 

Access granted in part 1 9 5 8 6 13 

Access denied in full 1 0 0 2 2 3 

Other       

Withdrawn 3 0 1 0 1 3 

Not proceeded with  0 1 0 3  0 

Act does not apply 0 2 0 0 2 0 

Not processed 0 0 0 2 4 0 

No documents 0 0 1 1  1 

Outside the Act 0 3 0 0  2 

Not yet finalised 2 1 0 0 2 1 

Outcomes of requests outstanding 
from previous reporting period 

      

All requests outstanding 0 0 0 0 0 4 

 

Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 

Under the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014, Council is required to comply with the privacy principles 
relating to the collection, management and use of an individual’s personal information. We achieve this through 
the implementation of our privacy policy and related procedures, coordinated by the Privacy Officer. Information 
about the privacy policy is published on the website and is also available upon request. 

During 2019-2020 Council received 58 requests relating to information privacy matters. These concerned 
information provided in relation to the collection, use and disclosure of an individual’s personal information, as 
outlined in the Act, for: 

 land ownership information requests, 

 rates and property ownership information requests from government agencies, or 

 personal information in the form of audio recordings (recorded during the 18 Feb 2020 Hearing of 
Submissions) 

 

Table 19: Information privacy requests and outcomes 2019-20 

 

Requests received 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Requests for property owner details 
under the Fences Act 1968 

199 297 236 226 324 300 

Requests for property owner details – 
building protection work  

12 40 13 76 36 22 

Personal requests 33 21 33 40 58 53 

Non-personal requests 7 19 13 31 20 5 

Total information privacy requests 40 40 46 71 78 58 

Requests transferred from another 
agency 

0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (Protected Disclosure Act 2012 prior to January 2020) aims to ensure 
openness and accountability in government by encouraging people to disclose improper conduct within the 
public sector and provide protection for people who make disclosures.  

In accordance with Section 69 of the Act, the organisation must include information in the Annual Report about 
how to access procedures established under Part 9 of the Act, and about the number and types of protected 
disclosures investigated during the financial year. 

Procedures on how to make a disclosure are publicly available on Council’s website at:  
https://www.surfcoast.vic.gov.au/About-us/Council/Policies-plans-strategies-and-reports/Public-Interest-
Disclosures 

During 2019-20: 

 no disclosure was made to officers appointed to receive disclosures 

 no disclosure was referred to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) 

 no disclosed matter was referred by the Ombudsman to Council 

 no disclosed matter was referred to the Ombudsman for investigation 

 no investigation was taken over by the Ombudsman from Council 

 no requests were made to the Ombudsman to investigate disclosed matters under the Public Interest 
Disclosures Act 2012 

 there were no disclosed matters that Council declined to investigate 

 there were no disclosed matters that were substantiated on investigation and no action/s required to be 
taken on completion of an investigation. 

Road Management Act Ministerial direction 

In accordance with section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004, a Council must publish a copy or summary of 
any Ministerial direction in its annual report. No such Ministerial Directions were received by Council during the 
financial year. 

 

Infrastructure and development contributions 

In accordance with section 46GM and 46QD of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, a council that is a 
collecting or development agency must prepare and give a report to the Minister for Planning on infrastructure 
and development contributions including levies and works in kind. The report must be published in a council’s 
annual report. For the 2019-20 year Council had no Infrastructure Contributions Plans. The following information 
about development contributions is disclosed. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Surf Coast Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Surf Coast Shire Council (the council) which comprises 
the: 

 balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 
 comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 statement of capital works for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
 certification of the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2020 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Councillors’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 

  

MELBOURNE 
24 September 2020 

Sanchu Chummar 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 


























































































